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Tuesday, September 28, 2010


--- On commencing at 9:35 a.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  Are there any preliminary matters?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.  I have some.


Can I advise the Board that I -- that my client has this morning filed some additional undertaking answers, J3.9, J4.2, J4.3 and J4.4.


In addition, Mr. Chair, there was an undertaking given some time ago, J3.10, in which I undertook to try to set out in one place what the company is seeking in this case with respect to the Green Energy Act.  And I would like to try to do that now, if I could.


I believe the undertaking really was to advise the Board as to what the applicant really is seeking by way of approvals in this case arising out of the green energy legislation or the Green Energy Act.


Witnesses were also asked whether the company was seeking approval of its green energy plan, per se, in this proceeding.


Now, although this is all covered in the evidence that's been prefiled, it is a little bit confusing, I do agree.  So let me try to clarify the application for you.


First, the company has asked for, in this case, approval of its green energy plan as part of its application.  There have obviously been a lot of changes since it has filed its application, but the company has to have a green energy plan, and notwithstanding the considerable changes that have occurred, it is obligated to have a plan and it has placed that plan before you.


The important thing, I think, is that notwithstanding the considerable uncertainty that has evolved over the past few months concerning this plan, the projects under the plan, even with the alterations, have very little effect on the revenue requirement under consideration.  It didn't have before and it doesn't have now.


As a matter of fact, whether the plan is actually approved, per se, or not will have virtually no impact on the revenue requirement which my client seeks in this case, for reasons that I can explain to you.


Now, I should say, as well, that my understanding of the law here is that the company is not at the moment obliged to submit a green energy plan to you for approval, because I understand that the Board has not yet asked transmitters or directed transmitters to do that.  Nevertheless, the company wanted to put its green energy plan before you so you can see what its plans were and so that its customer groups could see what the plans were, and that it has done.


And whether or not you approve it, per se, or not, it would be helpful if intervenors or if the Board, more importantly, feels that somehow the company is off track, to let them know.  I think that is the point.


Let me just deal with some of the practical implications for rate-making purposes in this case arising out of the green energy plan.


The Board will recall that the plan itself stems from a letter from the minister dated September 21, 2009.  There he directed Hydro One to begin work on two categories of projects:   Schedule A, which was a list of transmission projects, and schedule B, which was a list of projects to facilitate distributed generation.


Since then, there have been changes and the plan has been considerably altered or delayed.


Most schedule A projects have been deferred and work has stopped, as has been explained by the witnesses.  However, the company has already spent or incurred OM&A expense in 2009 in development work dealing with the green energy projects.  This amounts to about $1.9 million, which, with interest, accumulated interest of about $100,000, yields a total of $2 million for 2009 OM&A expense.


This $2 million has been placed in a Board-approved deferral account, and the applicant asks that that $2 million be recovered in the proposed rates for 2011 and 2012.  That is to say it is recovered over two years, I believe $1 million in each year.


The company, in addition, has spent money on development of these projects in 2010 before the work was stopped.  These amounts have been placed in the approved variance account.  The company does not seek recovery of these amounts in this case, but will in the next.  These are 2010 costs.  So it has no effect on the revenue requirement in this case.


Also, there is a forecast of expected development activities before you, and should there be a government direction to my client to work on these, on particular projects, the company proposes to put those costs in the deferral account.  Once again, this does not affect the present proposed revenue requirement.


If such costs are incurred and placed in the deferral account, because of the government direction to do the work, the company will come before the Board at a future case for approval of those costs and for approval in clearing those accounts.  So the Board will have scrutiny over those costs, ultimately, but they have no effect on this case.


Now, that is the OM&A side.


On the capital side, there will be substantial expenditures which will affect rates.  This involves several projects on the B list dealing with the connection of distributed generation.


Several of these projects will come into service in 2011 and 2012 and will, thus, affect the proposed revenue requirement and are included in this application.


As the evidence shows, in 2011 it is projected that $9.6 million will come into service - that is, projects costing $9.6 million will come into service - which has a revenue impact of about $0.9 million in 2011.


Similarly, in 2012, it is projected that $115 million will come into service, with a revenue impact of about $10.3 million.


These projects are the Leaside -- or include the Leaside and Hearn projects, which are thought to or projected to be completed and in service in 2011 and 2012, and this was discussed at some length in the transcript.


Further, and still dealing with capital, the company believes that two projects from the "A" list will proceed.  First is the Northwest Transmission Reinforcement, and the second is the Algoma to Sudbury project.


The company has included the capital which it forecasts to be spent on those projects and has requested approval of its envelope of capital spending over the test years.


However - and this is the important point, I think - there is no effect on the proposed revenue requirement for those years.  Each project will require a section 92 approval.  At that time, I anticipate that when the company comes forward for approval of these projects, it will ask for accelerated recovery of CWIP as part of that application.


But the Board is not being asked to rule on that now and that will be for a future panel.


If, of course, at that time these projects -- the section 92 projects are approved by the Board, the projects will be built, and then added to rate base upon completion.  And, once again, that will be subject to the Board's approval at the time.


So there are a couple of steps here that the Board will have to approve before any of these costs come into the revenue requirement.  It will be in a future period.


So to summarize, then, for 2011 and 2012, the rate period, the direct green energy-related costs impact on the revenue requirement is as follows.  For 2011, there is the $1 million from the deferral account which is sought to be collected, and, in addition, there is the $0.9 million relating to projects which will be coming into service in 2011.


In 2012, it will be the second half of the deferral account, the $2 million - that is, $1 million in 2012 for the deferral account - and an additional $10.3 million, which is the result of additional projects coming into service in 2012.


And that is, I believe, the only direct impact of the green energy projects on the rate application.


Now, one last thing I would like to say, sir, and Members of the Board, is that Mr. Warren was asking questions, I think yesterday, of Ms. Vines about a sum of about $4.9 million in 2012.  And I mistakenly said at that time that was part of the green energy projects which I would deal with this morning.  I was quite wrong about that.  It was not.  I have advised my friend of that.


And I have looked into this, and I see that this was

-- actually Ms. Lea asked Mr. Gregg about this at transcript 2001 and 2002 (sic), and he responded to what those costs were, so I invite my friend, Mr. Warren, to look at that.


201, transcript 201 and 202, volume 2, I think it is.  Sorry, it is volume 3, I think, Mr. Chair.


So I believe it was -- yes, it was day 3, as a matter of fact.  It was volume 3.  So I think he answered those questions, but if my friend does have any additional questions, Ms. Vines is here on the next panel and it can be pursued with her.


And I apologize, I misspoke yesterday.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  I hope that clears things up a little bit.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  That is very helpful.


Are there any other preliminary matters?


I think we have a new panel to be sworn.


MR. ROGERS:  We do.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Warren, you are reaching for the button?


MR. WARREN:  Just as a preliminary matter, through you, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Rogers, would this panel be in a position to answer some questions about the follow-up information you have just given about the green energy plan?  Or is there another panel that should be asked those questions?


And I raise that, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Panel, because now that we have a clearer picture of what is before you, it gives rise to a number of questions that immediately occur to me about the green energy plan.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, Mr. Chair, these witnesses are financial witnesses, essentially, and I suppose Mr. Struthers at a very high level might be able to answer some questions about it, but otherwise, no, I don't think they are the best witnesses to deal with green energy.


I don't know that anything I have said really changes anything, but...


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's see where we get.  And if there is some kind of dislocation, we will try to sort it through.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  And if my friend has any -- as always, if there is a question that can be answered by an undertaking, we will cooperate and try to provide it in writing.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  I will try my best.


MR. ROGERS:  Can we swear this panel?  And I note that Ms. Vines has already been sworn and remains so.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We don't want too much swearing.


[Laughter]

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 4:  REVENUE REQUIREMENT, COST OF CAPITAL, ACCELERATED COST RECOVERY, IFRS IMPLEMENTATION AND REGULATORY ASSETS


Sandy Struthers; Affirmed


Colin Fraser; Sworn


Debra Vines; Previously Sworn


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, sir.  May I briefly introduce the witnesses?

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Let's begin with you, Mr. Fraser.  I understand, sir, that your CV is set out at Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1, page 3?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Does that accurately summarize your experience?


MR. FRASER:  Yes, it does.


MR. ROGERS:  You are a chartered accountant, I believe?


MR. FRASER:  Yes, I am.


MR. ROGERS:  And you have -- you began your career with Clarkson Gordon in 1983?


MR. FRASER:  Yes, I did.


MR. ROGERS:  You joined Ontario Hydro, it looks like, in 1989?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You stayed with the company or its successor company since that time?


MR. FRASER:  Yes, I have.


MR. ROGERS:  Your present position is manager of financial reporting and accounting policy?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Fraser, I think you have testified a couple of times before, before this Board?


MR. FRASER:  Yes, I have.


MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be dealing with, sir?


MR. FRASER:  I will be responding to questions that deal with International Financial Reporting Standards, with the various regulatory accounts, deferral and variance accounts, as well as any questions on depreciation and amortization.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Struthers.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You are also a chartered accountant, I see?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And your qualifications are set out at page 11 of Exhibit A?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And they're an accurate summary of your experience?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, they are.


MR. ROGERS:  I know you have testified before this Board on a number of other occasions on several different topics.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have.


MR. ROGERS:  You began your career in 1981 with Thorne Ridell, I see, and then worked for several other accounting firms over the ensuing years?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You joined the Hydro group of companies in 2000?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And have worked in a succession of increasingly responsible positions, to the point now where you are the senior vice-president and chief financial officer of the corporation?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You have held that post since 2009?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Which areas of the evidence will you personally be dealing with?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will be addressing the general financing strategy of the company, talking about the pension plan, talking about CWIP and AFUDC as it relates to Bruce-to-Milton project, talking about some PST and HST issues, and also borrowing costs and investor relations.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Can you, by the way, as the senior person on the panel, confirm that the evidence to be dealt with by this panel is, so far as you are aware, an accurate reflection of the company's affairs?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I do.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


Now Ms. Vines, you are already sworn in this case, so we have been through your qualifications.


MS. VINES:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  I know you just were fairly recently appointed as director of corporate planning and regulatory finance after a career in human resources?


MS. VINES:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And you hold that same position, only with a couple of days more experience than the last time you explained it to us?


MS. VINES:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.


Those are my questions, sir.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.


Mr. Warren?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Panel, I am going to begin with some questions as a follow-up to the explanation which your counsel has given us this morning about the approvals sought in this case with respect to the green energy plan.


And I appreciate the qualification that Mr. Rogers has given, that you may not be able to answer them, but we will try our best.


Mr. Rogers said this morning that you were asking the Board -- not you personally -- but Hydro One Networks is asking the Board for approval of the green energy plan.  Do you remember him saying that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I believe he did, but I think he also caveated it, as well.


MR. WARREN:  Well, he caveated that -- he said that he doesn't -- the company doesn't feel legally it is obligated to do so, but notwithstanding that, it is seeking the Board's approval for the green energy plan; correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think it was -- I would have to go back to the transcript, but I think it was looking for the Board's comments, concerns, approval, whatever.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if the Board -- he also said that there are specific items which will have an impact on rates, including some $2 million over the two years in deferral accounts and specific expenditure amounts, capital and OM&A, with respect to two Schedule B projects, Hearn and Leaside; correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if the Board and Members of the Panel were to conclude that the green energy plan of Hydro One Networks was in some respect defective and would not be approved, if the Board were to do that would the company still seek to recover the costs that it has spent thus far on green energy projects?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe the company's view is it prudently incurred those costs, and therefore those amounts would be recoverable.  We would obviously look to the Board for a decision on that matter.


MR. WARREN:  Now, there are some amounts in the application, panel, for example, there is some -- I may get the number wrong and I apologize -- but there is some amount in the neighbourhood of 5- to $6 million which is being spent on what I will call research and development projects, related, for example, to the smart grid development in the Grey area, and they are related generally to the green energy plan.


Now, they don't have -- they will be put in deferral accounts and won't have any impact, as I understand it, on the rates to be recovered in the test years.


But if the Board were to say:  We don't approve of your green energy plan, would the company, notwithstanding that, go ahead and spend the 5- or $6 million annually for those kinds of research and development projects?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe the company would have to assess what the Board came back with and obviously would look to the Board for direction as to whether those would be prudent projects that the Board would want the company to pursue.  The company would have to decide what the impacts of not proceeding with those projects might be with respect to distribution and some of the issues related to generation in the distribution system.


We would have to make an assessment.


MR. WARREN:  But if the Board were to say, for example -- and this is hypothetical, I appreciate, but if the Board were to say there isn't, for example, sufficient information here upon which we can approve the green energy plan, notwithstanding that the company might make a decision to proceed to -- in that category of the $5 or $6 million a year in those categories of research and development, notwithstanding what the Board said, you might proceed with the spending; correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It depends on the nature of the project and the impact, and what that research and development would do for our -- in order to improve the performance of the system or to allow us to better understand what was going on in the distribution system, particularly with respect to distributed generation.


MR. WARREN:  Now, with respect to the -- as I understood what Mr. Rogers said, you were going to proceed with the two projects, one of which was the Northwest Reinforcement Project and the other was the Algoma to Sudbury.  You are going to proceed with those projects; is that correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe what my counsel suggested was that we would look at proceeding with those projects if directed to do so, and that we would come back to the Board, as appropriate, for approval on those projects on an ongoing basis, so the normal OEB Board process.


MR. WARREN:  So if the government says go ahead with those two projects -- sorry, is it the government who says to go ahead with those two projects or the OPA that says go ahead with those two projects?  Who is telling you to do it in those two cases?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't know.


MR. WARREN:  And you would come back to the Board in a section 92 application or as part of the next cost-of-service application?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, it would depend on the timing of the projects, depend on the process, but I believe it is a section 92 application.


MR. WARREN:  Now, my final question on this - and I appreciate this isn't your area - there are -- Mr. Rogers said -- and he didn't give me a number.  I am not being critical of that, but there have been moneys spent, as I understand it, in research and development or expected development activities in 2010, which have been put on hold.


And my note of his observation was that they will be put in a deferral account -- spent and put in a deferral account if the government directs you to do the work.


Do I take it from that that the decision about whether to proceed with green energy projects, in this case with additional development costs, is a function of what Hydro One Networks is told to do by somebody else?  Is that a fair summary of it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, could you repeat the question?


MR. WARREN:  My note of what Mr. Rogers said this morning, when he was talking about deferral account amounts, there is $1 million that has been spent in 2009 -- sorry, $2 million, as I understand it, in 2009 which will be recovered in $1 million increments in each of 2011, 2012.


He also said that there had been some sums spent in 2010 and there might be further sums spent in 2010 on development costs.  They would be put in the deferral account if the government directed Hydro One Networks to proceed with the projects.  That is my hurried note of what Mr. Rogers said this morning.


MR. ROGERS:  Can I just interrupt, Mr. Chair?  I think my friend has misstated some of the -- or misconstrued some of the evidence, not what I said this morning necessarily, but some of the evidence.  I am just going to refer him and you, for future reference, but at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 4, page 2 - C1, tab 2, schedule 4, page 2 - there is a discussion of these various costs, and there is a table there.


And the development costs that I referred to is the bottom line of table 1 on page 2.  And the figures on that table, which are lines 1, 2 and 3, are not going into a deferral account.  Those are OM&A expenses which are included in the cost of service.


So I just -- didn't want to leave that misunderstanding out there.  The development work on the bottom of that table are the sums we were talking about going into a deferral account.


And that is also shown at F1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 6.


MR. WARREN:  I apologize, Mr. Rogers and Members of the Panel.  I am, to a greater degree than normally is the case, flying by the seat of my pants, because I am working on my notes of what you said this morning, Mr. Rogers.  So if you just bear with me.


I understood what you were saying, in terms of its rate-making implications, that there had been money spent in 2010; that you are not seeking recovery in this case; that it is a forecast of expected development activities, which will proceed if the government directs you to do the work; and it will be put in a deferral account.  That is my note of what you said.


MS. LEA:  I don't know if I can be of assistance, and I hesitate to interrupt my friend.  I think there were two things said.  This development money that has been spent in 2010, that has been put into the deferral account.  The company is not seeking recovery in this rates case, but it will seek recovery in a forthcoming rates case.


The second category, forecast expenditures in development activities, and these forecast expenditures - not the ones already spent, but the ones forecast - are awaiting government instruction.


MR. ROGERS:  Correct.  And those figures are set out on table 1, at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 4, page 2.


MR. WARREN:  Just looking at that table -- thank you for that, Ms. Lea.  You are a much better notetaker than I am, obviously.


The figure for the bridge year 2010 under development work for transmission projects, $8.2 million, is that money which has already been spent or is it forecast to be spent?


MS. VINES:  I haven't done the math to get to that total, but Mr. Rogers referenced some work -- some expenses that had been incurred in 2010, and I think that is in the series of IRs I-2-72 through I-2-78.  It goes through each of those projects and indicates the costs incurred to date.


MR. WARREN:  Can you give me the numbers, Ms. Vines?  Just the total of what has been spent in 2010.


MS. VINES:  I would have to go through that series of IRs to do that math.


MR. WARREN:  But in addition to that, there may be additional money spent in 2010, which would be put into a deferral account, if the government directs you to proceed with those projects; is that correct?


MS. VINES:  I believe that's what Mr. Rogers indicated, yes.


MR. WARREN:  And do we have an estimate of what that amount would be?


MR. STRUTHERS:  At the current time, we don't.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And what is the relationship of any of those figures to the table we're looking at on the screen and the $8.2 million in the bridge year, or do you know, panel?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. STRUTHERS:  We would have to look at the IRs to determine exactly what is in the IRs in response to that $8.2 million.


MR. WARREN:  I wonder, Mr. Chairman, if I could ask for an undertaking to clarify those points?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, we will undertake to -- if it is just a question of adding the numbers up, let us do it so there is no confusion -- or let my clients do it.  I'll stay out of it.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As I understand it, we are looking at the interrogatories to determine the amounts that have already been spent in 2010, and then that would be subtracted from the number $8.2 million in order to arrive at the forecast?


MR. ROGERS:  Correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that right?


MR. ROGERS:  That's my understanding.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That would be correct.


MS. LEA:  I think I may have covered this in my cross of panel 1, but, in any event, we will take it as J6.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.1:  TO LOOK AT THE INTERROGATORIES AND PROVIDE AN ANSWER AS TO WHAT MONEY HAS BEEN SPENT IN 2010 WHICH WOULD BE PUT INTO A DEFERRAL ACCOUNT.

MR. ROGERS:  My friend may be right, but we will take the undertaking and ensure it is cleared up.


MR. WARREN:  The final question is:  In the category of money that may be spent in 2010, the increment which is going to be derived using the formula that Mr. Sommerville has outlined, that amount will not be spent unless the government tells you to proceed with those projects; is that correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We would have to be directed by some third party, whether it is the government or the OPA or the OEB, as to proceed, and then we would incur those expenses.


MR. WARREN:  Is it your expectation that the Ontario Energy Board would tell you to proceed with a green energy project?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is not my expectation at all.  I am sure that we will be directed by some party, a third party, and we will take direction as appropriate.


MR. WARREN:  One way or another, it isn't your choice to proceed with those green energy projects.  Somebody else tells you to do it.  Have I understood that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. WARREN:  All right.  Thanks.


Panel, I would like to deal now with the matters that you are here to deal with, and my questions, I think, will be principally to you, Mr. Struthers.


And in connection with that testimony -- sorry, my questions, I wonder if you could turn up the following documents.


One is KX1.4, which is a February 11, 2010 submission to the board of directors.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's a confidential document?


MR. WARREN:  It is a confidential document.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  Yes, I have it.


MR. WARREN:  The second document I will be referring to is an attachment to the first interrogatory, I believe, of the Canadian Manufacturers Association.  It is a document dated May 13th, 2010.  It is a submission to the board of directors, signed by Mr. Gregg and Ms. Formusa.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have that document as well.


MR. WARREN:  The third document I am going to be referring you to is a response to a Board Staff interrogatory, No. 38.  It is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 38.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have that as well.


MR. WARREN:  And the final document, panel, is a response to an undertaking.  It is Exhibit J2.2.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have that one as well.  You have to forgive me as I juggle paper here.


MR. WARREN:  You don't need to do anything, Mr. Struthers.  I have created the problem for you, I'm sorry.


Mr. Struthers, I am going to be asking you some questions about one of these documents which is confidential, but I am not going to be dealing with forward-looking financial information.


So I don't believe I will transgress the confidentiality requirements, but if I get anywhere near that, I am sure your counsel or you will object.


Just by way of overview, Mr. Struthers, you are, among other things, the chief financial officer of Hydro One Networks; is that correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.


MR. WARREN:  And in that capacity -- I don't want to put this too grandly to you -- but you would be, broadly speaking, responsible for the financial integrity of Hydro One Networks; is that fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is fair.


MR. WARREN:  And you would be, in your capacity, a participant in the business and budget planning processes; is that fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And would I be correct that the revenue requirement and the consequent recovery of that requirement in rates are critical to the financial integrity of Hydro One Networks?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. WARREN:  And finally, that you would be aware of any material changes in the revenue requirement, to the extent that they might affect the financial integrity of Hydro One Networks; is that correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. WARREN:  And would I be correct in assuming that you would have participated in any discussions about material changes to the revenue requirement and the rates to recover that revenue requirement?  Is that fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is fair that I would have been involved in discussions, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, the first exhibit I would like to take you to is Exhibit KX1.4, which is a confidential exhibit.


It is the February 11th, 2010 submission to the board of directors, and you are one of the two signatories to that document; is that correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, the document refers in the text --under "key highlights," the second bullet item refers to rate increases that were presented to the Board on November 11, 2009.


And they were positing rate increases of 25.8 percent in 2011, and 10.8 percent in 2012.  Do you see that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I do.


MR. WARREN:  Now, this document, KX1.4 posits rate increases, again in the second bullet item, of 16.2 percent in 2011 and 9.8 percent in 2012.  Do you see that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I do.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if you would look down to the fourth bullet item -- fifth bullet item, I'm sorry, under that "key highlights" the changes in the rates that we've just discussed, the drop in the rates, am I correct that they were predicated on the assumption that the Hydro One Networks would achieve a certain revenue as a result of the Board's decision on cost of capital?  Is that a fair summary on my part?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It was -– yes, that's correct -- it was assumed that the company would receive the OEB prescribed rate for 2010.


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, Mr. Struthers, what the drivers were for the change in the posited rates between November and February?  What were the drivers for that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  You're asking why did the rates change?


MR. WARREN:  Why did the rates change?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The rates changed as a result of the recalculating the ROE numbers, so return on equity being increased.


But the assumption was it started from a particular point.  So we were now expecting to earn a 9.75 percent return, therefore the jump wasn't going to be from 2.25 percent.  It had already been dealt with partially through the OEB's hearing in -- or OEB's decision with respect to 2009-2010 rates.


So we had already got some of that return on equity that we were otherwise expecting to get in 2011, that had already come through, through the 2009 process.


So that is part of it.


The other thing that we were looking at at the time was better understanding of where we were going with respect to some of the projects that had been identified through the Green Energy Act, and how some of those had drifted off in time.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Struthers, may I assume, since you are a signatory to this document, that any material information that you felt your board should have would have been included in this document?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The Board would be -- have been requested to approve this document, yes.


MR. WARREN:  My question was a bit different.


You would ensure that any information that you thought was material and relevant for the board to approve it, would have been included in this document; is that fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's fair, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And may I assume that one of the drivers -- there are too many negatives in this, and I apologize -- that one of the drivers in this was not a concern about the impact of the application or the revenue requirement on ratepayers?  Is that fair on my part?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, it is not fair.


MR. WARREN:  But it is not mentioned anywhere in this document, is it, Mr. Struthers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Without going through every line on the document, I believe, subject to check, I believe you are probably correct.


MR. WARREN:  Based on the answer you gave me a few moments ago, I take it that it is not included in the document because you did not consider it either material or relevant for the board to approve this document; is that fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's not correct.


MR. WARREN:  So there was a material piece of information which you did not include in the document; am I to conclude that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The Hydro One board had had ongoing discussions around the impact to rates as a result of the Green Energy Act since when I took over the position as SVP and CFO.  So they had been discussing this item and the impact to rates since April 2009.


It was a concern to the board, the Hydro One board, and the concern was the impact to customers.


MR. WARREN:  Finally on this document, if you could look at page 3, I just want to make sure I understand.


At the top of page 3, it says, and I quote:

"Payments to the shareholder of 620 million of dividends are through common shares of 215 million, preferred shares of 54 million and PILs of 351 million."


Have I read that correctly?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, you have.


MR. WARREN:  So in terms of the total amount going to the shareholder, you include the PILs amount in that calculation; is that fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, we do.


MR. WARREN:  Was there any discussion -- and I don't see it in this document, but we now learn that there may have been things that were material that were not in the document -- was there any discussion at the board about reducing that amount, the $620 million, in order to reduce the impact of the application on ratepayers?  Any discussion at all?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The board had a number of discussions, and had had a number of discussions since April 2009, with respect to how to finance the company and the green energy application -- or the Green Energy Act and some of the projects that were ongoing.


One of the things that the company was looking at doing and had shareholder agreement to do was to retain within the company sufficient capital to ensure that the company was structured on a 60-40 debt-to-equity basis.  To do that, we managed the dividend payments.  The PILs payments are a calculation and we are required to pay those, but the company does -- or it was looking at how to be able to finance itself and maintain its credit ratings.


MR. WARREN:  My question was a little bit different, Mr. Struthers.  Let me go back to it.  Was there any discussion at the board of directors, at this point, about reducing, for example, the payments -- sorry, reducing the payments to the shareholder in order to reduce the impact on ratepayers?  Was there any discussion?


MR. STRUTHERS:  There was no specific discussion on that particular item.  There was a discussion on the financeability to the company.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, could I just interrupt my friend here?


I have a concern about the sort of creeping intrusion into this dialogue between senior management and the board of directors.


Now, I appreciate impacts are very important in this case, and I am not objecting to this line of questioning, particularly because we previously said Mr. Struthers would be here and would be here to answer questions about this.  But I just make the observation that I am concerned about the extent to which we should be delving into communications between senior management and its board of directors in meetings.


Now, we happen to have called senior vice presidents in this case who were at these meetings, and so it is hard for me to say it is not relevant.  I am more concerned about intruding into this necessary management board reporting atmosphere in which there has to be some protection so that there can be a free flow of information.


Now, having said all of that, I am not objecting to my friend's questions.  I just raise it, that it is a concern I have, and I may object in future, but at the moment I am not.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.


MR. WARREN:  Let me assure Mr. Rogers that I have a horror of being either creepy or intrusive.


MR. WARREN:  I want to turn from this date, Mr. Struthers, to the period -- and I can't be any more precise about it than getting into March and a bit of April of 2010.


Now the evidence of Mr. Gregg in response to questions from my friend, Mr. Thompson, which you don't need to turn up unless you really want to, but they're in the unredacted transcript of September 23rd, volume 3, and they're roughly at page 100 and following.


The questions were that -- dealing with the request that was made to Hydro One Networks to review its transmission application.


Now, the impression I have, Mr. Struthers, from reading with some care the transcript on this, is that there was a new minister, and the people around the new minister wanted to understand the implications of the application, and so they asked Hydro One Networks to put it on hold.  That is my reading, my gloss, if you wish, of Mr. Gregg's response to Mr. Thompson.


Now, against that background, you and I can agree, can we not, that there had been a very substantial amount of work that had gone into the preparation of the transmission application by a lot of folks within Hydro One Networks; fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  In the probably January, February time period, there had been a lot of work put into the application, yes.


MR. WARREN:  And you and I can agree that a request to review or to put it on hold, with the possibility of making material changes in the application, would be a matter of considerable seriousness to the senior management, including you; is that not correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  When we were asked to put it on hold, we weren't told what the implications of putting it on hold might be.  We were just asked to put our transmission rate filing on hold, and, therefore, we had to understand what the implications to both our revenue net income and our borrowing positions would be, if there was a substantial delay in some decision.  We weren't clear what that decision was going to be.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I don't mean to be facetious about this, but I assume that a decision to put an application on hold communicated to Hydro One would have to come from somebody other than some whey-faced attendance on the minister.  It would have had to come from someone senior in the ministry, is that fair, and it would have had to come to you or Ms. Formusa?  Is that not fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, it's not, actually.  I believe the discussion was -- and I wasn't party to the discussion at the time.  I agree with the senior official within the Ministry of Energy, but I am not sure who it came to, whether it came to Ms. Formusa or whether it was a discussion with Mr. Gregg.  I wasn't involved in those discussions.


MR. WARREN:  When were you first told, Mr. Struthers, that the application was to be put on hold?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I was told after Mr. -- I assume Mr. Gregg was involved, because he was the one that told me.


MR. WARREN:  And when were you told?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It would be approximately the date that Mr. Gregg indicated that he had been told.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Gregg was a bit -- I don't mean this by way of criticism, but I didn't get from the transcript that he knew an exact date.  Was the last week of March, thereabouts?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe it was the last week of March, yes.  It was just prior to when we had intended to file.


MR. WARREN:  Were you told that the application had to be reviewed with a view to reducing the revenue requirement and the requested rate increase?  Is that what you were told?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I wasn't told that.  We were told that, I believe, that they wanted some explanation around what the rate request was, and they wanted to know more information.  There had been considerable change in the Ministry of Energy staff at the time.  They wanted to understand what the application was about.


MR. WARREN:  Now, when were you asked, Mr. Gregg (sic), to review the application with a view to reducing the revenue requirement and the requested level of rate increase?  When were you asked to do that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  First of all, I am not Mr. Gregg.


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Struthers.  I apologize.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think probably -- probably into roughly the same time we received the distribution rate decision.


MR. WARREN:  That decision was dated April 9, as I recollect.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that would be correct.  It had some very clear guidelines from the Board, and we thanked the Board for being clear about what their concerns were.


It certainly had an impact on our budgeting, in terms of what our budgeted costs would be for a go forward for 2011 and 2010, and we took those very seriously and wanted to understand the impact on our transmission rate application.


MR. WARREN:  Now, the Board's decision was issued on April the 9th.  My question was:  Was it around that time that Hydro One Networks was asked to reduce the revenue requirement on the transmission application and, therefore, the rate increases?  Was it around that time?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would have to refer back to Mr. Gregg.  Mr. Gregg was the one that was dealing with the ministry.  It wasn't me.


MR. WARREN:  When were you told?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We looked at the impact of the April 9th decision and what that meant in terms of our CF&S costs on a go-forward basis.  It allowed us to go back and look at the transmission rate application.  We also at that time had actual numbers with respect to 2009, and it also allowed us to go back and look at our rate application from that respect.


So we were at the time looking at the implications of the Board's direction and actual numbers in terms of what we had originally put forward.  So that process would have been ongoing around that time.


MR. WARREN:  I wonder in this connection if you could turn up the response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 38; Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 38.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have that document.


MR. WARREN:  Now, as I understand the data which is included in this interrogatory response is that these are the cuts that were made to the OM&A expenditures in leading to the revised application that was filed in May of this year; is that fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, what I want to understand, Mr. Struthers, you, I take it - correct me if I am wrong - would have been involved in the discussion leading to the decision to make these changes; is that fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I wasn't involved in giving instruction.  I was involved in the discussions around the implications and what they did.


MR. WARREN:  And the discussions would have included whom?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The discussions would have included myself, Mr. Marcello and Mr. Gregg.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if you look at the second page of this interrogatory response, it says, beginning at line 5, and I quote:

"A risk based assessment of the Transmission System at reduced OM&S sustainment spending levels was carried out to ensure that risk could be managed within acceptable levels over the test years."


Have I read that accurately?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, you have.


MR. WARREN:  Now, a risk-based assessment to determine if the risk could be managed, I take it -- and I don't mean to be facetious.  I take it that is a serious exercise?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It was a serious exercise, yes.  But the process -- you have to understand that because we have been going through this process in January and February and March, a lot of the background work had been done.


So they had already been pushed back by management in January, around what it was that they were trying to do, and did they really have to do it, given that -- and I certainly experienced it in the distribution filing and also in front of the Board -- that the Board was concerned about customer costs, and did we really have to do this work.


So they had already been pushed.  They had done a lot of the additional work that needed to be done.


MR. WARREN:  The risk-based assessment, the process would have engaged you; is that correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's not correct.


MR. WARREN:  You would not have been involved in that process?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No.  I am not an engineer.


MR. WARREN:  The process giving rise to these numbers, you've said that you and Mr. Gregg and Mr. Marcello were involved in it.  Anybody else involved in it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  In terms of other staff?


MR. WARREN:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, there would have been staff from the asset management group.  There would have been one of my financial staff, from the point of view of, if we did this, what did it mean to the numbers.


MR. WARREN:  Is there --


MR. STRUTHERS:  But it was primarily asset management group that were being asked to look at the programs.


MR. WARREN:  And may I assume that there were a variety of different alternatives or scenarios that were considered before arriving at these numbers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am going to make the same assumption you are, in that the asset management group would have made -- would have looked at the various alternatives that were available to them in terms of reducing the OM&A costs.


MR. WARREN:  And these changes -- I want to understand this -- these changes were made in response to the Board's distribution decision?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The CF&S costs were directly attributable to the Board's decision around distribution.


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, I don't understand what those initialized --


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you scroll back up, you will -- under "shared services and other costs", six-and-a-half-million dollars, that would have been an allocated cost.  The process that we go through is very -- for budgeting is very complex, because we're effectively looking at two businesses, a distribution business and a transmission business, but some of the shared costs are similar between the two organizations.


Those costs get allocated between the O&A portion, as well as the capital portion.  So what we had to do was understand what the impact of the distribution rate decision was, and then work that through the models to understand the impact on the transmission OM&A numbers.


So that is the process that we went through.  Does that help you?


MR. WARREN:  It does, Mr. Struthers.


And then just drilling down to actual numbers, looking at table 1 on Board Staff 38, the changes that were responsive to the distribution decision are in the "shared services and other costs" and they're $6.5 million; correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.


MR. WARREN:  Were there any other changes on table 1 that were directly responsive to the Board's transmission

-- distribution decision?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't believe so.  Some of the -- we certainly understood from the Board's comments in that April 9th decision that they were asking us to carefully go back and look at our costs.


MR. WARREN:  Do I take it, then, sir, that of the $19.4 million in 2011, reductions in OM&A, that a total of some $13 million were attributable to the subsequent desire -- subsequent direction to reduce your revenue requirement?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The request to go back and look at our numbers, that would have been a driving force that cemented what -- the process that we were going through, yes.


MR. WARREN:  The question I have arises –- and I apologize, you may not have had a chance to read the transcript -- but I put a series of questions to Ms. Vines yesterday, and Ms. Vines' response to me was that the reduction in the revenue requirement and the consequent impact on the rate application came in, effectively, in two tranches.


The first tranche was the response to the Board's decision in the distribution case, and the second was to the direction that you got from the ministry to reduce the revenue requirement.


Now, I want to understand in terms of numbers what the process was and what the results were.


Is it artificial on my part to say that there were two discrete segments to this, that there was 6.5 million that was reduced as a result of the Board's decision, and then the next $13 million was a response to the direction from the government?  Is that artificial?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Process-wise, that was how the process worked out.  We ran the distribution numbers to determine what the impact on the transmission system was going to be.


And then at the same time, we were working through, or at least the asset management group was working through the impact, or where it believed it could and where it was still appropriate to reduce sustaining costs.


MR. WARREN:  What I want to get to in this is -- I apologize if I have gone over this and I have forgotten your response -- the direction to reduce the revenue requirement came to Mr. Gregg and from Mr. Gregg to you, and that was at or around the time of the issuance of the Board's distribution decision; correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  And with respect to OM&A costs, the result of that was a further cut of some $13 million in your -- the revenue requirement attributable to OM&A?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  That would have taken the sustaining level of OM&A down to roughly inflation.


MR. WARREN:  And am I correct -- I just -- in understanding that as a percentage of the overall OM&A of Hydro One transmission, the number I have -- and you'll correct me if I am wrong -- the overall OM&A levels for transmission in 2011 are some $436 million?  Does that number strike you as correct?


MS. VINES:  That strikes me as correct, yes.


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry?


MS. VINES:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. WARREN:  So just doing a little math, we're talking about reductions in response to the directive to cut this, to cut the impact on customers, we're talking about some 13 million out of 436 million.


Have I got that right, Ms. Vines?


MS. VINES:  No.  You are talking about an impact of 19 million out of 400-some million.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  That wasn't my question, and I apologize, Ms. Vines.


MS. VINES:  Sorry.


MR. WARREN:: In response to the directive to cut your rates -- not the Board's decision in distribution -- in response to the direction to cut your revenue requirement and therefore your rates, that the cut you made was 13 million out of 436 million.


Have I got those numbers correctly?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you include the OM&A costs within the $434 million, you would be technically correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the capital reductions that were made -- in this context, if you could turn up J2.2?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have that document.


MR. WARREN:  I apologize, Mr. Struthers.  I just want to go back to one other question.


In response to the Board's decision in the distribution case -- I don't believe you need to turn it up unless you want to; I read some portions of it to yesterday's panel -- the Board in the distribution case said -- and this is my gloss and it is a crude gloss -- it said:  Your labour costs are too high.  You have got to reduce them.


And I am wondering can you tell me, both -- they said for both compensation and vegetation management, your costs are too high.


In terms of the transmission application, what did Hydro One Networks do to reduce the compensation levels, arising from the distribution decision?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, clearly, we are bound by union agreements.  It is very difficult for us to reduce compensation levels.


At the time, management was under a wage freeze.  There was no increase in management costs.  So to that extent, it is reflected.


But we had undertaken a number of projects, so Cornerstone project, for example.  What we were trying to do is effectively reduce our labour costs by getting more productivity out of them.  We recognize that our labour costs are higher.  We have limited ability to be able to adjust for those costs, because we are bound by contract.


What we're trying to do through implementation of Cornerstone, implementation of better work processes, is to try and effectively reduce the labour costs on a unit basis.  That is what we're trying to do.  That is the whole reason behind making performance and process changes.


MR. WARREN:  In terms of -- can we attach a number to that for 2011-2012?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe the Cornerstone numbers were provided within the material.


MR. WARREN:  I appreciate the Cornerstone numbers, but so the Board, when they look at the Cornerstone numbers, they are to understand that that is your way of responding to the Board's concern about compensation levels?  Increased productivity, not change compensation levels; is that fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We -- I think it is clear that we are somewhat restricted in what we can do with respect to compensation levels.  We are bound by collective agreement.


Our options are to manage the work force, which is what we do, and to look at improving productivity by giving our employees better information, better tools, in order to make them more effective.


So that is what we're trying to do.  That is why we're making these investments.


MR. WARREN:  Returning to J2.2, this undertaking provides the changes in your proposed capital spending in 2011-2012.  And, as I understand it, these changes in the capital expenditures are what Hydro One says it is doing in response to the minister's request that you reduce your revenue requirement and, therefore, the rate impacts.  Have I understood that correctly?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you could say again?  You said the minister has told us to do this?


MR. WARREN:  The minister, indeed, told you in a letter to reduce your revenue requirement and, therefore, the impact on ratepayers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think the minister asked us to go back and review, with prudence, the costs that we were proposing, to ensure that we were making sure that the costs being charged to customers were appropriate.  I think we have a different interpretation on the letter.


MR. WARREN:  You don't think the minister was telling you that in the interests of ratepayers, that you should reduce your revenue requirement and, therefore, the rate impacts?  You don't think the minister --


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't believe the minister was telling us that we should take such cuts that we would jeopardize the hydroelectric system in Ontario.  I am not sure that is what he was saying.


MR. WARREN:  Now, am I correct in understanding, though, that your position before the Board in this application is that you did make cuts in your OM&A and in your forecast capital expenditures in response to a concern about the size of the revenue requirement and the impact on ratepayers?  I am correct in that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Certainly with respect to the requirements on ratepayers, clearly understanding what we had seen from the April 9th decision of the Board and also in conjunction with a request from the minister, yes.


MR. WARREN:  And in J2.2, we have the capital -- changes in capital that are responsive to that concern about impact on ratepayers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is also reflective of what we understood was going to be the -- effectively, the new timetable or what was the developing timetable for green energy projects, yes.


MR. WARREN:  So am I correct in understanding that the changes in the forecast of capital expenditures are entirely related, entirely related, to the change in the timing of the green energy projects, the schedule A projects.


MR. STRUTHERS:  It would be a combination of that, as well as our looking at work programs.


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, sir, looking at J2.2 -- the changes that are reflected in J2.2, my understanding was that all of them were related to changes in timing in green energy projects.  I obviously have misunderstood that.


Can you tell me which of the figures on J2.2 are not related to the changes in timing in the green energy projects?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Certainly the shared services and other costs numbers are not reflective of the Green Energy Act.


MR. WARREN:  And they are a total of $1 million.  Have I got that right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, you would be correct.  But the other items, I don't have enough familiarity with or knowledge of to determine which were specifically related to the Green Energy Act and which were related to where we had gone back and looked at program need.


MR. WARREN:  My question, Mr. Struthers, is - and let me put it to you for your response - it strikes me that in response to the minister's directive that you make cuts in the interests of ratepayers, that it is entirely fortuitous that the minister said, By the way, we're putting on hold most or all of the schedule A projects, that you didn't, in fact, take a knife to any of the capital projects within it, except the green energy projects.


Am I wrong about that, Mr. Struthers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Your characterization is incorrect.  We went back and looked at the capital program that we required in order to maintain the safety and reliability of the system.


If you look at the cyclical spending in transmission or in transmission investments, you will see that typically there is a transmission investment peak every 20 years.  We are effectively in that position now.


So the last significant investment in transmission spending would have been in 1999 or even 1980s.


So what we're seeing now is basically that equipment coming to end of life and investments being required, that are needed to be made to ensure that the system operates reliably, as well as to address the coming off coal issues where we need to make investments in SVCs, static VAR compensators.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Struthers, finally, I just want to understand, if I can, and see if I've got some numbers correctly in terms of this total size of Hydro One Networks.


The Board in its distribution decision approved capital spending in 2010, 2011 of some -- if you include the green energy spending, some $858 million.  Does that number seem reasonable to you?


MR. STRUTHERS:  You have the numbers in front of you.  Subject to check, I will assume that they're correct.


MR. WARREN:  The OM&A approved in the distribution case is something in the neighbourhood of $568 million.  Can you take that subject to check?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will.


MR. WARREN:  And what you are seeking approval for in this case for transmission is capital spending in the neighbourhood of roughly $1.15 billion.  Take that subject to check?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will take that subject to check.


MR. WARREN:  And the OM&A levels for transmission we have already discussed in 2011 would be some $436 million.  Take that subject to check?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will.


MR. WARREN:  So if I put all of those numbers together, am I correct in understanding that Hydro One Networks plans to spend a total of OM&A and capital in 2011 some $3 billion, roughly; fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Roughly, that would be correct, yes.  It is a significant amount of money that is being invested in the systems.


MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much, sir.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Warren.


Who is next?  I know that we -- as I think parties know, we are going to break at 2 o'clock today to accommodate the 50th anniversary of the Board's inception, I guess.


And I have indicated that we would have sort of a shorter lunch period.  I think we will have a break in the morning, notwithstanding that, to give parties a bit of a break, especially the panel.


So with that in mind, we will take our normal break around 11 o'clock and go from there.


So who would like to go next?  Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I am ready.  Thanks.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Panel.  My name is Peter Thompson.  I represent the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, and I have the pleasure of following the creepily intrusive Mr. Warren.  So I will be a piece of cake compared to him.


MR. WARREN:  Less creepy, anyways.


MR. THOMPSON:  And just to set you at ease, Mr. Struthers and Ms. Vines, I note you are Queen's graduates, both from commerce, '81?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.  We actually didn't know each other at Queen's.  We subsequently met at Hydro.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that puts you in my good books, at least.  I went to Queen's.  I just actually came back from the 45th anniversary of the law school, so I hope you will treat me with the respect that that deserves.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do they have a law school at Queen's?


[Laughter]


MR. ROGERS:  It is an excellent second-tier law school.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you for that correction, Mr. Rogers.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would also take exception with Mr. Rogers' comments.


MR. THOMPSON:  As you know from my examination of previous witnesses, the priority interest of my client is the extent to which overall customer impacts were considered in the planning process that led to this particular application.  And I went through, with panel 1, a number of factual matters pertaining to a number of topics.


They included presentations made to the board of directors, June and November of 2009, February of 2010 and May 2010.  We discussed the close working relationship between Hydro One and its related entities owned by the Government of Ontario.  They included the OPA, the IESO, the OPG, and I suppose the OEFC, as well.


We talked a bit about Hydro One's relationship with Board Staff.  We had quite an extensive discussion about the chronology of planning events leading to the application before the Board, and I also discussed Hydro One's understanding of the renewable/conservation demand management end-state that is currently envisaged.


Can I assume that you folks are familiar with the evidence that your colleagues provided on those topics and that you're reasonably comfortable with it, so I don't have to go through this again?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am certainly familiar from having quickly read through transcripts.  I wouldn't say that I have an in-depth knowledge of exactly what they said.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will take that as a qualified "yes, you are reasonably comfortable with."


Nothing leapt out at you that needs correction?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't recall whether the -- there was a discussion around the OEFC.


MR. THOMPSON:  No, there wasn't.  I just through that in because it is a related entity.


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is a related entity.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, to an extent, yes, because it holds the debt.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, there were, during that examination, a number of items that were put over to this panel, and I thought what I might do, it might be just most efficient, is sort of go through those items and it will lead into a broader discussion of topics that we weren't able to canvass at great length during that examination of primarily panel 1.


So you should have in front of you, if you wouldn't mind, the transcript of day 3.


There is just one item in the chronology that I hadn't covered with the other panels that I would like to get inserted here, if I might.  And that is the -- if you can tell me the date on which the Ontario Energy Board rejected Hydro One's motion to have transmission rates for 2010 increased to reflect the Board's cost-of-capital report.


Can you help us with that, Mr. Struthers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am going from recollection.  I think it was April 6th, or maybe April 5th.  I stand to be corrected by the Board, though.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  In any event, shortly before the Board's distribution decision on April the 9th?


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I recall, I believe it was slightly in advance of that.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.


MR. STRUTHERS:  But again, the Board may correct me.


MR. THOMPSON:  No.  I think that sounds right to me.


Now, the first topic, then, that came up during the course of examination of panel 1 is at page 76 of the transcript.  That had to do with the Memorandum of Agreement between Hydro One and the province and the question of whether your business plans require ministerial concurrence, and in particular whether the revised plans that came out of the May meeting require ministerial concurrence.


Can you help us with that, Mr. Struthers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I recall, the chair of the Hydro One board submits a document, and it's based on the budget which would have been approved in November to the ministers for approval.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  And the evidence indicates that following the update in February to your board of directors, that that updated plan was sent to the minister.  And there is a letter in the record -- it is dated February 25th, 2009 -- where the minister expresses concurrence in that particular plan.


Are you familiar with that letter?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe that letter is actually in response to the letter that would have been submitted to the chair -- by the chair in -- some time in November after the board meeting.


I don't think it has to do with the February update.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, perhaps we better turn that up.  I thought it did, but now you have forced me to dig it out.
 I didn't think we would run into this.


Can you help me with the exhibit number there, Mr. Rogers, of that document?  It is the February 25th letter from the minister to Hydro One.  It was attached to one of the interrogatory responses.  It might have been Board Staff 98.


MR. ROGERS:  I don't think so.


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, Schools No. 7.  Perhaps we could pull that up and put it on the screen, so I don't have --


MR. ROGERS:  That is Exhibit 7.


MR. THOMSON:  It's I, tab –-


MR. ROGERS:  Sorry, Exhibit I, tab 7.


MR. THOMPSON:  Correct, and I think it was schedule 7 or 8, one or the other?  Just a minute, and I'll find it.


MS. LEA:  Schedule 8.


MR. ROGERS:  It is very hard to find because it is part of a big attachment, I think.  Did the panel find it?


MR. THOMPSON:  We have it.  It is apparently I, tab 7, schedule 8, and it is the letter from...


MR. STRUTHERS:  This is the -- sorry, this is the letter dated February 25th, 2010 that you are referring to?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe that is in response to the material that was provided from the chair, based on the approval by the board of the November budget.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So when it is referring to a copy of Hydro One's Inc.'s 2010 budget and 2011-2012 outlook and performance targets, that is not referring to the update?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That would be correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So was there -- I had misunderstood that, unfortunately, from the chronology, and maybe panel 1 did as well.


But can you tell us whether there was a follow-up letter sent to the minister, dealing with the material that was approved in February?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't know what the chair might have sent, so I can't help you from that.  The reason why I know this is -- it relates to November is because of the speed of the response, so it couldn't relate to the February material.


MR. THOMPSON:  You're saying that the responses are generally quite slow from the Minister of Energy, is that...


MR. STRUTHERS:  In this case, you have two signatures; you have the Minister of Energy and you also have the Minister of Finance.  Therefore it would have to have cleared both of their offices within a short period of time.  So I don't believe that would be possible.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, two signatures on the letter?  This is sent by a deputy minister.


MR. STRUTHERS:  The letter I am looking at February 25th is signed by Brad Duguid, minister -- and Dwight Duncan, Minister of Finance.  Am I looking at the wrong document?


MR. THOMPSON:  No.  No.  Ms. Lea handed me a different letter.  It's all right.  Staff trying to confuse me now.


[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  It is very easily done, I can tell you.


MS. LEA:  I am so sorry, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, okay.


MS. LEA:  Don't ask me again.


MR. WARREN:  It's creepy, eh?


MR. THOMPSON:  It's all a conspiracy.


MS. LEA:  Definitely creepifying.


[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  You are quite right, signed by two people.


Well, could you undertake to see whether anything was sent to the minister with respect to the February plan and whether there was a response?


I asked that question about the May plan by way of undertaking, and I had an undertaking response saying nothing was sent.


So I would just like to complete the picture, in terms of the February material.  Could I have that undertaking, please?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I will undertake to make enquiries.


MS. LEA:  I believe the undertaking number will be J6.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.2:  to CONFIRM WHETHER APPROVED FEBRUARY PLANS WERE SENT TO MINISTER OF ENERGY FOR CONCURRENCE, AND WHETHER MINISTER RESPONSED.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.


MR. ROGERS:  It is whether a letter was sent from the minister?


MR. THOMPSON:  Whether the plans, the approved plans were sent to the minister for concurrence -- that's the approved February plans -- and whether something was received back from the minister.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I will undertake to enquire as to whether such a document or documents exist.  I won't undertake to produce it, but I will advise the Board, if I don't, the reasons why, and you can decide.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.


And coming back to the question, though, at transcript 76 -- is concurrence required under the Memorandum of Agreement -- and what is your answer to that, Mr. Struthers?  Is it yes or no?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The Memorandum of Agreement, I think, is fairly clear, and that concurrence is required and we complied with that concurrence, so I would say yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So do you have concurrence for the -- first of all, the February update and then the May revisions?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Are you asking whether we have received formal concurrence back from the minister for the updates?


MR. THOMPSON:  Formal or informal.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Informal, I am not sure whether the Minister of Energy has informally approved it.  I know that I have spoken with the Minister of Finance subsequent so -- in September of this year about where we are against plan and what the performance for the end of the year looks like.


So I have done that.  I am not sure if that is what you would describe as informal concurrence.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, do you regard it as informal concurrence, that discussion that you had with the Minister of Finance in -- it's this month, is it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe it was beginning of September, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Do you regard that as informal concurrence?


MR. STRUTHERS:  What we talked about was the financial performance of the company, as well as some other issues related to the company.  I am not sure whether I would consider that to be concurrence.  He certainly understands or his staff understand where we are.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, let's move on.


The next transcript entry was -- where a punt came up was -- I have it at 87.  There I was discussing with Mr. Gregg the fact that Hydro One staggers its distribution and transmission applications to the OEB for rate increases, even though, internally, it plans them both concurrently.


And I asked if you could explain why we have this staggering approach to distribution and transmission rates, i.e., why they don't come in for them on a parallel, rather than a staggered basis.  And I was told that is something you could help me with.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's kind of Mr. Gregg to volunteer me.  I think the simple answer is workload.  Putting together a transmission rate filing of the volume of material that we have here, plus putting together a distribution rate filing of the volume that was filed last year, it is a huge amount of work that has to be gone through, as well as preparing for that hearing.


It is something that physically the company is not staffed to do, as well as the other things it does with the Energy Board and other regulators.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the ratepayers who think this is all some sort of conspiracy theory to confuse us are off base on this one, are they?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.  It is not a conspiracy theory.  It is a workload issue.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thank you.


The next area I just wanted -- again, moving on in the transcript, it is at page 99, where I discussed with Mr. Gregg a number of things that were kind of taking place in late March.


He had mentioned the media, concerns raised in the media about customer impacts at that time, and we were discussing things having been raised in the legislature.


I mentioned to him a report by Mr. Trebilcock, and I understood him to say Hydro One was generally aware of those developments at this time.  And I provided a copy of that report to your counsel last night.  This is Michael Trebilcock's report, "Taking a Deep Breath on Wind Power".


Have you had an opportunity to take a look at that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  This is the document dated March 1st, 2010?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have had a chance to read through it briefly.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I don't have a great number of copies here.  I have enough for the Board Panel, and I will get some at the break, which, as I see in one moment, maybe we should take it now and I can get some additional copies, if that is satisfactory.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will break for 15 minutes and come back at 11:15.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 10:59 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


It seems to the Panel that one way of proceeding this morning to accommodate the Board's anniversary is to go on until about quarter after 1:00, if we can do that, and break at that point for the day.


We seem to be making reasonably good process with the panel, and we will see where we are at.  Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.


When we broke, we were -- I was just coming to Mr. Trebilcock.  I hope I pronounced that correctly.


MR. ROGERS:  It is Trebilcock, I believe.


MR. THOMPSON:  Trebilcock?  Okay.  Thanks.


Trebilcock's March 1st report, and I have distributed that to the Board Panel, and perhaps we should give it an exhibit number.


MS. LEA:  K6.1, please.

EXHIBIT NO. K6.1:  REPORT by PROFESSOR michael TREBILCOCK entitled "Taking a Deep Breath on Wind Power" dated march 1, 2010


MR. THOMPSON:  I draw your attention to this article, Mr. Struthers, primarily in the context of the discussion you were having with Mr. Warren this morning, where I noted that you indicated that the impact on consumers of the Green Energy Act initiatives has been a matter of ongoing discussions with Hydro One's board of directors since April, 2009.


Did I write that down correctly?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.  We started discussions with them around the actual feasibility of the Green Energy Act conceptually, as it was being presented at the time, both from a work perspective and also from a financing perspective, and what that would potentially mean in terms of how we would finance the company, including what it might mean to transmission rates.


So yes, the board was very aware, and it was very aware of the impact to customers.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I would like to take you through, if I could, the section of the report under the heading "Economic Effects" which appears at pages 1 and 2, and I will try and just paraphrase what is here, but in the first part the author talks about the prices that the OPA is paying for wind and solar, at 13-and-a-half cents per kilowatt-hour for wind, and 80 cents per kilowatt-hour for solar.


Are those prices in the ballpark today?  I know there has been some adjustment to ground solar recently, but can you help us with the price -- price issue?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not aware of what the prices are, but I believe this article is probably correct in the prices stated at the time.  I am not sure where they are today.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  The report goes on, and refers to a recent study, an April of 2009 study by London Economics, and then it talks -- it refers to a recent article in the Globe and Mail on January 8th.  This is on page 2, quoting Adam White, president of AMPCO, and the quote is:

"The situation is not sustainable because it will leave companies paying higher rates than competitors in other jurisdictions."


The article goes on and refers to a statement made by an energy lawyer, Peter Murphy, and then it carries on:

"Recent studies of wind power in Denmark, Germany and the UK reached similar conclusions about the impacts of renewable energy on electricity costs in these jurisdictions."


Is Hydro One familiar with those studies?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I can't say.  I don't know.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Are you familiar with them?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, I'm not.


MR. THOMPSON:  I see.  Well, what's Hydro One's view on Mr. White's comment that the situation is not sustainable because it will leave companies paying higher rates than competitors in other jurisdictions?


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman, what value to this Board would it have to have this witness' opinions of government policy?


I object.  I mean, this is government policy.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that is right, Mr. Thompson.  I am not sure that the witness is -- it may be fairer to ask the witness what he -- what he has, as part of the company, executed in pursuit of government policy, but his support of or -- support of government policy would seem to be outside the range here.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, maybe I phrased the question poorly.


Let me come back to what you were saying to Mr. Warren.  You talked about ongoing discussions at Hydro One concerning the impacts of these Green Energy Act initiatives on consumers.


Could you describe to me the scope of those discussions?  What is it that you were discussing?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We were discussing the impact of the transmission and distribution rates that Hydro One is responsible for, and how those would impact consumers.


We are not in a position to identify what potential costs and where they may go.  I can't tell you where they are going to go.  I can't tell you what will happen to other components of the bill.


Our discussions were around what the transmission and distribution impacts might be to customers, if we were required to undertake the Green Energy Act as had originally been contemplated.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So were there any discussions at Hydro One concerning the overall impacts on electricity prices of these initiatives, and their economic feasibility?


Or is that something that is the responsibility of another government entity in the mix here?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Hydro One is responsible for the delivery of electricity in the province of Ontario.  I don't believe it is responsible for developing economic or energy policy in the province.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, to your knowledge, is one of the government-owned entities responsible for that?  Is the OPA responsible for that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would have to look at the Energy Board, the Ontario Power Authority and the Minister of Energy as being the organizations that would have some perspective around the strategy for electricity rates in Ontario.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So I am taking that to be a statement to the effect that Hydro One doesn't know whether this is all economically feasible, or not.


MR. STRUTHERS:  From a corporate financing perspective, we looked at the Green Energy Act as to whether it was feasible to do within the company's financing structure, and what the impacts would be if we were to come up with a number of mechanisms to be able to finance it.


That was the depth of our analysis and the impact that it would have on our transmission and distribution rates.


I can't tell you whether it is economically feasible for this province or not.  I am assuming that somebody else has done those studies.


MR. THOMPSON:  Have you seen the results of such studies?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, I have not.


MR. THOMPSON:  Has anyone at Hydro One seen the results of any such studies, to your knowledge?


MR. STRUTHERS:  To my personal knowledge, I certainly don't know.


MR. THOMPSON:  Anybody else in the panel help me?  Seen anything that looks like an economic feasibility study of all of this?


MS. VINES:  No.  I believe I responded to questions of a similar nature yesterday, and no, I am not aware.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.


Let's move on then, if we might, to the topic that came up in the transcript, volume 3, at pages 108 to 110.


This pertains to the confidential Exhibit K2.6, I believe, and that is the coloured component of the February presentation to the board of directors, if you could turn that up, please?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have the document.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.  I just have to catch up to you.


The discussion with Mr. Gregg in the transcript had proceeded from looking at the June presentation to the board of directors, which was K1. -- KX1.2, and the November presentation to the board of directors at KX1.3, where rate impacts were presented for transmission and distribution separately.


Would you take that subject to check, or do you want me to show you what we were talking about?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will take it subject to check, but it may be helpful if you tell me sort of which document or which slide you are looking at, or whatever.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, in the --


MR. STRUTHERS:  The memorandum itself or the presentation?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, coming forward to KX2.6, we were looking at a slide, number 8.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, okay.  I have you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the discussion with Mr. Gregg had stemmed from the presentation of impacts in prior materials that had gone to the board of directors.  And in the KX1.3, which was the June material, the presentation was at page 18.  This is slide 18.  And in the follow-up document, the presentation was I believe at slide 26.  Let me just confirm that.


No, sorry, slides 16 and 17.  But the point that I was making with the witness was, in the 2009 presentations, distribution was presented separately in terms of bill impact.  All other features in the bill held constant.  Transmission was presented separately, all other features of the bill held constant.


And then by February, we had a new format of presentation.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  That is what appeared at slide 8 of KX2.6.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And I asked when was this -- who developed it and when was it developed, and that got punted to you.  So that's where I am.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  So you're asking the same question, then?


MR. THOMPSON:  I am asking the same question.


MR. STRUTHERS:  So the answer is the actual slide that you are referring to, the graphic slide, was prepared at my request, but that -- the reason I asked for it was because I had been asked for it by the board.


They were interested in understanding what the impacts of the rate request that Hydro One might make, or how that would look on the total bill, but what we did in order

to -- just to be able to keep it to items that we controlled, by kept all other items constant on that bill.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the request to you from the board, am I fair to conclude, came after the November meeting and before the February meeting?


MR. STRUTHERS:  They had asked for the similar type of information with respect to rate increases as early as April 2009.


At that point, in order to actually undertake the Green Energy Act, as we had understood it at that point, transmission rates were astronomical increases.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But the -- when was this bar chart format devised, then, that has the various line items in the bill segregated on it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Probably it would have been floating around from about June.  It just depends whether it would have been used or not.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So sort of mid-2009 time frame, approximately?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, roughly.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, I had a discussion with Mr. Gregg about the ability of one to take the "commodity" box, for example, as well as the "regulatory" box as another example, and develop year-by-year forecasts of the likely impact on those line items of the activities that are reflected in Hydro One's plans and the plans of the other entities that feed into Hydro One's plans.


He said, yes, that could be done, words to that effect.  Do you agree with that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you have access to the information.  This is just a graph out of an Excel spreadsheet.  It is a matter of providing the information to be able to graph it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And you are aware that CME has been critical of what we call a partial total bill impact analysis, and we've urged that a total bill impact analysis be done.


Are you aware of that, sir?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am aware that you have questioned why Hydro One was unable to do a total bill impact, and our response has always been it is elements beyond our control.


All we did was show the impact of transmission and distribution rate, as proposed, in order to undertake the work programs and what that would mean from today's date, holding everything, steady going forward.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I appreciate what you have done.  But I wanted to --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, just to be clear, this document was provided to the Hydro One board for their information.  If they had asked for something else, we would have provided it.


That was the request.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, I understand that.  And let me just -- I wanted to take you to the CME evidence here, the prefiled evidence of CME, Exhibit M-2.  This is a...


Have you had a chance to review this, Mr. Struthers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, I have not.


MR. THOMPSON:  My goodness, you don't rate our evidence as even a read?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have a number of other responsibilities, as well, so I apologize for not having read your material.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's okay.


Well, in terms of the discussion that I had with Mr. Gregg and, in particular, how one would go about developing forward-looking estimates of the likely increases in the commodity charge line item of the bill, he punted all of that to you.


What Mr. Sharp has done in the material that we have filed is, first of all, try and identify all of the line -- all of the cost increase elements that show up in various line items of the bill.  You will see those on page 2 of his -- sorry, of CME's evidence, Exhibit M-2.  So he has feed-in tariff, renewable energy, standard offer program, a number of particular items and where they show up in the bill area.


He has in the bill area electricity line, and then transmission and distribution, either in delivery or regulatory.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Could I ask --


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you see that on page 2?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Can I ask why -- I haven't read the material, but can I ask why he has natural gas as an item?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that is for NUG, as I understand it --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- NUGs, but he can explain.


But my question of you is:  Are you familiar with these various -- or is Hydro One familiar with these various cost increase elements that show up in the "commodity" line of the bill?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you are asking if I am familiar with those items, I am familiar with some of them.  I haven't seen them laid out in this format.  I wasn't aware of the natural gas items, and I wasn't aware of the NUG contract impacts.


He has done a far more detailed analysis than I am aware of.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, has Hydro One done a list of these, what he calls cost increase elements, in the commodity line of the bill or in the regulatory line of the bill?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Personally, I don't know.


MR. THOMPSON:  Can other panel members tell me?


MS. VINES:  I don't know, either.


MR. THOMPSON:  You don't know?  Well, could you undertake to check and advise me if that has been done at Hydro One, please?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I can undertake to make enquiries, Mr. Chairman.  The problem is Hydro One is a very big organization.  Whether some people may have looked at this, I don't know.  But let me enquire to see whether there is any institutional analysis of this.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.


MS. LEA:  J6.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.3:  TO ADVISE WHETHER HYDRO ONE HAS A LIST OF COST INCREASE ELEMENTS IN THE COMMODITY OR REGULATORY LINES THE BILL.

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Sharp, then, having identified what he thinks are a list of the cost-increase elements in the total bill, then goes to various sources of information to try and develop forward-looking estimates, and the information includes OPA material and IESO material and some OEB information, and information from publicly-filed rate cases with the OEB.


Is that where you would look, Mr. Struthers, to do this, conduct this exercise?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If I was asked to conduct the exercise, I certainly would look to those resources, as well as any other information that might be available publicly, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, in terms of Mr. Sharp's conclusions, based on what he has done, I just wanted to share those with you, in terms of the impacts on non-residential customers.


If you go to page 7, his conclusion is that the non-residential customers could see their total unit cost rise from 47 percent to 64 percent over the increase already experienced in 2010, and he expresses that at 8.0 to 10.4 percent as an annual -- average annual compounded increase.


Does Hydro One have any basis upon which to question those conclusions?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I will object to that question.


We haven't met Mr. Sharp yet, and it is unfair to ask these witnesses whether they have any criticism of his results.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me ask these witnesses this.


Has Hydro One done any analysis, what we call a total bill impact analysis, of this nature yet?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will respond with:  I don't know.


What we were looking at –- again, I will repeat -- what we were looking at was the transmission and distribution rate impacts on the bill, assuming that the components of the bill remained static.


That's all we were responsible for.  We wanted to understand what that impact would be.


MR. ROGERS:  If it helps, Mr. Chairman, I am instructed that Hydro One as an institution has not done an analysis comparable to this, so far as we are aware.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then just on the residential category -- that is over on page 8, Mr. Struthers -- Mr. Sharp's conclusion is that:

"Over and above the increases already experienced in 2010, the residential consumers could see their total unit cost rise by 38 percent to 47 percent by early 2015."


I take it you haven't done any analysis at an institutional level to compare to Mr. Sharp's analysis?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, I will repeat, I personally don't know if an analysis has been done or not.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I was asking at an institutional level.


I assume the answer is the same, Mr. Rogers?  It hasn't been done?  Even at the residential --


MR. ROGERS:  As I am instructed, so far as those who are instructing me are aware, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay.


So let's move forward, if we might, to the presentations that were made in February, and again in May, to the board of directors.


I take it from what you are telling me, that what we call a total bill impact analysis was not presented to your board of directors either in February or in May?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Not in written material, no.  The material you have was what was provided to them in written, and presented.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right, but was something presented orally?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I had other material that I might have referred to, but not in a formal presentation, no.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, so did you express a view as to what the total overall impacts on the bill would be at either of those board of directors meetings?  In other words, not confining it just to transmission and distribution?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, no.


MR. THOMPSON:  But to the big picture?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, no.  I have no ability to be able to predict it.  It wasn't something that is in my capability.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.


Now, just before we leave the coloured slide, which is page 8 of KX2.6, there are some numbers in 2009, 2010, 2011, which are not redacted from the public record here.  They're in the exhibit that is filed on the public record.


Can anyone on the panel tell me how the number for 2009 was derived for a 1,000 kilowatt-hour customer?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It was using the existing rates at that point in time, so in fact, it actually did reflect the cost of power at that point in time, because it was an actual.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But is it a particular customer or -- just expand upon -- expand for me how you get that number.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe the request was from a residential-customer perspective.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And is that a Hydro One residential customer?  Is it some sort of average of Hydro One residential customers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It would have been Hydro One, because the rates that we were looking at were Hydro One rates.


MR. THOMPSON:  But Hydro One serves residential customers in many locations, and those rates vary from location to location.


Could you just explain to me whether that is an average of all of the -- all of your residential customers, or is it something else?


Or is this for another panel?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe it is an average.  I am not sure that, when I asked for the analysis, I specified a particular rate category.


MR. THOMPSON:  An average across the Hydro One system?  Is that your understanding of it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  My understanding, if you wish me to take an undertaking to determine what it is based on, I can do that if you wish.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I would like that.


MR. ROGERS:  The problem is the rates don't -- unless I am missing something, the rates –- well, there are different rate classes, but -- residential rate classes, but they don't vary from place to place in the Hydro One system.


But my understanding is this is the average residential customer bill impact.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's what I understand.  It is the average residential rate for 2009.  That was my request.  I think that is what they provided me with.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.


Now, if we go to 2010, then we see the dollar increase in the second line of $7.00, and in the top line, that is being added to the starting point in 2009; correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It's a -- the way the schedule works is the total bill for 2010 is subtracted from the total bill for 2009, and the difference is the increase.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Okay.  And so the dollar increase for 2010 came from where?  Is that from the business plans for transmission and distribution?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That would be correct, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then so -- so running across that line -- some of this is confidential -- but the source of the dollars for those numbers that appear on line 2 would be the business plan that was approved in June, and then converted into a budget and outlook in November?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


The only item that did change, and you may be able to see it on your slide, is the cost of power was updated for the 2010 cost of power, because we knew it at the time.  But we didn't project forward the cost of power.  We just left it constant.  So there is just a slight increase there.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Am I correct that the numbers that are reflected in this February slide would include an assumption that you would get Board-approved -- sorry, you would get the cost-of-capital flowing from the Board's December '09 Report in both distribution and transmission?


MR. STRUTHERS:  To be clear, yes.  Yes, but it would have reflected where we were at that particular time with respect to Board decisions.


So once the Board decision came out in April, those numbers would change, obviously.  What we had assumed here was that we would get the 975 for 2010 for both distribution and transmission, and, in reality, we didn't get that.


So it was based on assumptions that were consistent as at the date the material was prepared, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  I wasn't being critical.  I was just trying to understand the numbers, because Mr. Gregg pointed out that some of the percentage increases, today, were a little bit less than what is showing on this chart.  And I think that stems, in part, from some of the assumptions that went into this chart.


MR. STRUTHERS:  This is -- I think what you're talking about is a timing issue here.  This was material that was prepared for a February meeting.


It would have differed from what might have been in -- well, what would have been in our May filing.  As I think we have gone through the time frame, things change between February and May.


MR. THOMPSON:  Just so we have it on the record, the Board's cost of capital report for distribution, am I right it added about $40 million to the distribution revenue requirement for 2010?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am doing it from memory.  I believe you are probably correct, but I can provide that subject to check, if you wish.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And subject to check for transmission, had you been successful on your motion to have cost of capital for 2010 reflect the board's report, my recollection is that number was about $60 million.  Is that your number?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Revenue or net income?


MR. THOMPSON:  Revenue requirement.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe you're correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So between the two of those -- well, together, those two, on the assumptions presented in February, would be adding $100 million, roughly, to Hydro One's revenues?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  Based on the math that you provided, yes, it would be roughly 100.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, there is one other point I wanted to raise about TBI analysis and I -- let me preface it this way.  We asked you folks a --


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm sorry, TBI analysis?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, total bill impact.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Oh, sorry.


MR. THOMPSON:  I thought I would have you folks infected with that phrase by now.


[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  It is contagious, you know.


We asked -- I think it was, CME 5.  This is Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 5.  We had asked Hydro One whether it was aware of any estimates having been done by the OEB of the total electricity price being paid by either one or more of certain typical customers, and your response was to refer us to the OEB website for the mechanism that is there for estimating electricity prices.


Have I got that straight?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe that is the response in I, tab 3, schedule 5, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And I asked a similar question in the OPG case, and expanded upon it during the course of a technical conference.  And OPG -- the OPG witness then put the question to Board Staff as to whether something had been done, and there was a response.


Then in the OPG case, a letter was circulated to parties to that proceeding dated September 17, 2010, and I provided a copy of this to your counsel the other day.


Do you happen to have that, sir?  If not, I have extra copies here.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would appreciate an extra copy, please.


[Mr. Thompson hands out copies]


MS. LEA:  Does the Board panel have a copy of this letter?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No.


MS. LEA:  Are you seeking to make this an exhibit, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, please.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Then let's give it an exhibit number, and the Board Panel and Board Staff will need a copy.  K6.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K6.2:  Letter dated September 17, 2010 to parties in OPG proceeding from the OEB.


MR. THOMPSON:  And, essentially, what this is telling us, Mr. Struthers, if you've had a chance to review it, is that Board Staff has done an analysis of this nature.  They're not prepared to produce it, based on the statements in this letter.


But my question of Hydro One is:  Has Hydro One seen this analysis, to your knowledge?


MR. STRUTHERS:  To my knowledge, no, I don't believe I have seen the Board's -- Ontario Energy Board's analysis.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And I will ask it of the institution.  Does -- Hydro One, the institution, has it seen this analysis?  If that requires an undertaking, let me know.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I think I can advise.  I am instructed that, no, we are not aware of anybody at Hydro One having seen this analysis.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thank you.  I will come back to that later, so we can try and move this along.


The only other point I wanted to -- in terms of this discussion about bill impacts and presentations to the directors I wanted to draw your attention to, Mr. Struthers, is a passage from the Board's April 9, 2010 distribution decision.  Mr. Warren was discussing this with the witness panel yesterday, and I discussed it with I think it was panel 2.


Do you have a copy of that decision available to you?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We are in the process of getting it, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have a copy of the document in front of me.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  If you would be good enough to -- I guess it really starts on -- the Board findings start on page 11, where the Board found that Hydro One's OM&A budget is excessive.  Do you see that in the first sentence at the bottom of the page, the paragraph at the bottom of the page?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then over on the next page, the Board describes the factors it considered in arriving at the $40 million reduction in the quantum of the approved OM&A envelope.


And starting at the bottom, at page 12, the factors are discussed.  Do you see that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And over on page 13, the fourth factor the Board discussed is the topic I have been discussing with you, the overall increase and the prospect of further increases in the commodity portion of the bill.


The Board said, and I am quoting:

"Fourth, the Board must take into account the overall increase and prospect of further increases in the commodity portion of the bill.  While these charges are outside the control of the applicant, they are no less real for customers.  In giving effect the Board's objective to protect the interests of consumers, the Board cannot ignore the overall impacts on customers."


Have I read that correctly?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, you have.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, you told Mr. Warren that during the April time frame where you were having these discussions with the ministry, that this decision was -- you received it, and as I understood it, it was something that you analyzed quite carefully; is that fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  The board also reviewed the document very carefully, as well, the Hydro One board.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And was this passage brought to the board of directors' attention?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't know, because I wasn't at that meeting.  I just know that there was a discussion at the board level, around the decision of the Board with respect to the distribution application.


I am not sure whether they focussed on this particular section.  I think if they had been reading it, they would have looked at it and said that that was basically the Ontario Energy Board outlining its role in the process.


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, sorry.  When you said "that meeting" is this a meeting prior to the May meeting that --


MR. STRUTHERS:  The Hydro One board has a series of meetings with respect to committees.  So there are committee meetings.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well --


MR. STRUTHERS:  And there is a board meeting that follows those committee meetings.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So when you -- when was the distribution decision presented to Hydro One's board of directors?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The actual -- I believe the document was -- or the link to the document was provided to the board members through an e-mail, but I believe the actual document was reviewed by the board members or at least a portion of the board members at the committee meeting of the regulatory committee, which was, I believe, the day before the board meeting.


MR. THOMPSON:  So are we talking in May, then?  Is that --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I believe that was the case.  I am not part of the regulatory committee, so I am not privy to what goes on in those meetings.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, am I understanding that there are documents that were -- when you say something was e-mailed to the board of directors --


MR. STRUTHERS:  It would have been the link to the Ontario Energy Board -- it either would have been a link to the Ontario Energy Board, or it would have been the PDF file of the decision.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is that all that was sent to them, to your knowledge?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am going by recall.  I don't know exactly what was sent to them.  I believe that they were provided with the document in advance, so that they had advance reading material, so that they could have a discussion of the rate decision at that meeting.


That's typically how we do it.  We provide them with material in advance, so they can come prepared to ask questions and to discuss.


MR. THOMPSON:  But this meeting is, we think -- is it the day before the document that we have in CME No. 3?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Oh, the board meeting itself?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Well, the one you signed, which is --


MR. STRUTHERS:  I didn't sign any document in May, with respect to -- I believe Mr. Gregg signed the document.


MR. THOMPSON:  I am talking about the May 13th -- I'm mistaken, sorry.  May 13th, 2010 document, that's attached to Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 1, and that is signed by Mr. Gregg and Ms. Formusa?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So do I understand you to be saying you were not present at that May 13th meeting?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I was present at the May 13th meeting of the board, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  But not involved in the -- in a prior meeting?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct, the meeting that would have been held the previous day.


MR. THOMPSON:  And my question is, because of Mr. Rogers:  Is there anything in writing that was circulated to the directors on that May 12, 2010 meeting, other than a link to the Board's decision?  And if so, I would ask that it be produced in confidence.


MR. ROGERS:  I am instructed that the documentation that would be given to the committee, the regulatory committee, prior to the board meeting, would be -- in all likelihood would be identical to the May 13th 2010 memo that went to the board.


But I am going to object to this, asking to produce this now in the middle of this hearing.


The Board perhaps is tired of me saying this, but there has to be -- we have to narrow this portal somehow, to protect the company's internal workings, to allow some free-flowing exchange of information without the fear that it is going to be disclosed in a public hearing like this.


It just stifles an honest discourse between management and its board, with respect, sir.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I thought the Board already ruled on this in response to the motions that we had argued the other day.


The written documentation that was presented to the board between April and this May date was requested by Mr. Warren; he wanted all of it.


And we were led to believe, as I understood it, the only written document that was presented to the board was this May 13th document.


MR. ROGERS:  This is the point.  To the board, but the board has committees, many committees, and management will report to these many committees in a variety of different ways, I assume.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  There are committee meetings prior to board meetings, and the committees report back to the board at the board meetings.  A lot of the work of the board is actually done through committees.  That is how they have structured it.


The material you have that Mr. Gregg provided or signed is a board document.  The board would have been required to approve it.


That is where the Board approval would have occurred.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I thought you described a board meeting prior to the meeting on May 12, 2010.


MR. STRUTHERS:  No.  I described a committee of the Board meeting, and I believe I referred to it as the regulatory committee of the board.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I explained, the committees of the board meet before the board meeting; the board meeting is typically held on the day after, typically held on the day after the committee meetings.


Items that are brought forward for approval at the board level are typically -- or can be done, necessarily discussed, at those committee meetings.


But the board approval is done at the board level, which is on the date of the board meeting.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, this particular committee meeting was dealing with the Board's distribution decision?


MR. STRUTHERS:  There was a discussion at the regulatory committee around the Board's decision of April the 9th, yes.  That was a committee meeting.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I submit it is a rather important document in the chronology, and request that it be produced, and --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, it would have been in the board's April 9th document that was... it is the Board's -- the Ontario Energy Board's decision for the distribution rate filing was the document that was discussed by the regulatory committee in its meeting.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I think I understand what the document is now, and I am requesting that it be produced.  And I submit it is covered by the prior ruling.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, just to be clear, you are asking for a copy, then, of the Ontario Energy Board's April 9th ruling?


MR. THOMPSON:  No, no.  I said anything in addition to that that was presented to the committee, as I understand it now.


MR. STRUTHERS:  And I don't know that would be.


MR. THOMPSON:  I appreciate it.  That's why I asked for an undertaking from Mr. Rogers, and he objected.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It's not entirely clear to the Board that your request falls under the scope of a previous ruling, and the Board will defer at this point and we will get back to you on that undertaking, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, if it doesn't, then I simply rely on the same principles that are reflected in the ruling, and I will leave it there.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the Board's decision was discussed in committee on the 12th.  And then your revised plans were presented to the board on the 13th, and you were at that meeting, Mr. Struthers?  I have that straight, have I?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I was at the board meeting on the 13th, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so did any board -- was there any request for -- by the board for a presentation of increases in the commodity portion of the bill at the May 13th, 2010 meeting?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, there was no -- no, there was no request by the Hydro One board for an analysis of the commodity price increases that might be reflected in the future.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So do I take it from that they just simply ignored that aspect of the decision, the importance of that information?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The Hydro One board was asked to make a decision as to whether Hydro One should proceed with its rate filing for transmission rates, as indicated in the documentation provided to it.  They were asked for approval of that.


MR. THOMPSON:  The whole context of that was a hue and cry in the media about customer bill impacts dealing with not just transmission and distribution, but OPG, HST and other items.  And yet no questions were asked to present that to your directors?


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, again, I object.  You know, to get into who said what to whom at a board meeting is inappropriate, in my respectful submission.  There may have been -- Mr. Struthers has answered the question, I think, but, as a matter of principle, I just repeat that there may be questions asked by a board of directors about things, and it shouldn't necessarily have to be asked -- or in their mind, before they ask a question, they know it is going to be disclosed in a public hearing.  That level of detail, with great respect, is not helpful to the Board, I would not think.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, without agreeing with my friend, I will move on, so you don't have to be troubled with at that again.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  I wonder, Mr. Struthers, if you can help me with this, and that is the level of increases Hydro One customers were experiencing in -- are experiencing, and I guess are expected to experience, in 2010.


In the exhibit we were discussing a few moments ago, we have this base number you said was an actual average number of $117.37 per megawatt-hour.  Do you recall that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That would be the 2009 number, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, okay.


And is this the right panel to ask what is the average number for the Hydro One customers, including all of the increases that have been experienced in 2010?  I am just trying to get a handle on:  What have Hydro One customers experienced in 2010?


And I do that in the context of Mr. Sharp's evidence where he says customers generally are experiencing 15 to 20 percent increases.  Can someone on the panel help me with that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Your question -- sorry.  I will try and paraphrase or rephrase your question so I understand.  You are asking whether somebody on this particular panel, which is panel 4, has done an analysis which indicates or takes into consideration all of the costs, so commodity costs, the DRC costs, Hydro One's rate costs and all components of the bill?  Is that your question?


MR. THOMPSON:  No.  My question is quite simple.


You have a total bill for an average Hydro One customer in 2009 of $117 -- I think this is dollars or --


MR. STRUTHERS:  It would be $117, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And 37 cents.  And all I am asking is:  Taking that same customer today, what is the total bill?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Are you asking this panel whether we have done it?  I think I can speak for the panel and say that we haven't.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, could you do it for us?


MR. STRUTHERS:  And what assumptions would you like us to use?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the same -- it is an actual bill I am looking for, as of today, for this same particular customer.  How much has the bill increased in 2010?  That is what I am trying to get at.


MR. STRUTHERS:  You would like us to take into consideration HST or not?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  That is part of the bill now, isn't it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am trying to understand your request, that's all.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it is total bill.  Did you have GST in the total bill of $117.37?


MR. ROGERS:  Can I interrupt?  I am not sure these witnesses are the ones to answer the question, but I can undertake to try and provide an answer to what the total bill impact would be for known costs up to the present time.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As at September 1st.


MR. ROGERS:  That is what we need, a cut-off time, so I know -- so we will have reliable data.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.  If that is the point that you can take it to.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, if it can be done to September 1st -- let's put it this way, to the latest -- I will take it to the latest date they can with published data.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Would it be a snapshot or -- what I am hearing you saying are costs to a certain time.  Are you not looking for a snapshot as of September 1?


MR. ROGERS:  Say September 1.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  J6.4, please.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.4:  TO PROVIDE WHAT THE TOTAL BILL IMPACT WOULD BE FOR KNOWN COSTS UP TO SEPTEMBER 1, 2010.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so we are clear about it, that is a sort of actual bill reflection, so we are not -- we don't need to clarify what any assumptions are.  We don't need to have any understandings about that.  It is simply what the billing system would spit out for that customer at 1,000 kilowatts per month.  That is what we're looking for.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's right.  I would paraphrase it as the same calculation that is $117.37 in this chart, which I understood to be an actual average 1,000 kilowatt per hour residential customer.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I guess what caused me to interject, Mr. Thompson, was the mid-year occurrence of the insertion of the HST, and that we remove that noise by saying it is at a point in time as of -- with that in, as of today, as opposed to a blend of being half in and half out over a year, that sort of thing.


So I think it would be difficult to replicate what went on in 2009, because there wasn't a mid-year insertion of that cost.  That is all I was trying to get at.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I think I know what I am asking, but I am sure you know better what I should be asking.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I hope whatever comes forward is helpful to the Board, as well as yourself.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


Well, I will ask my friend to do his best to deal with those points that you have raised in the response.


Are we okay, Mr. Rogers?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson, I think we are ready for your next --


MR. ROGERS:  I think so.  There are some problems that I pointed out with this, but what I will try to do is try to have my client try to calculate the number as of September 1, 2010, which is comparable, because I don't -- comparable to the figure for the full year, 2009.


I don't know whether -- how they dealt with that due to the rate increase is presumably throughout that year.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is the dilemma that we are dealing with, to some extent.  I think the cleanest, best way to deal with it is to -- is to consider it as sort of what the billing system would produce for that customer as at September 1st, without too much nuance about what may or may not have been included in the 2009 rendition on slide 8 of the exhibit that you are referring to.


So that, I think, will provide you with and the Board with a useful comparison.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And with whatever assumptions -- hopefully very few -- whatever assumptions are made expressed in the document.  We have given that a number, I think, Ms. Lea?


MS. LEA:  Yes, we did.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Just while we are on this topic of 2010 increases, we did ask, and I think it is CME number 6 - I, tab 3, schedule 6 - for some bills for illustrative customers.


And I can't remember whether this response is the responsibility of you folks, or is that panel 6?


MR. ROGERS:  I imagine it is panel 6.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Does this panel -- or maybe Mr. Rogers can help me, because I have to tell Mr. DeRose what this is all about -- can you help me whether we are dealing here with, in response to 6, an average customer?  Or is this a particular -- are these averages, again?


MR. ROGERS:  I believe they are averages, but panel 6 can confirm that.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And the bill amounts are described, panel, at page 2 of the interrogatory response, and the actual bills are provided later.


Can you just help me with the as-of date for those bills?  And if Mr. Cowan knows or Mr. Rogers knows, I would be content to have that.


MR. ROGERS:  My advice is it was probably at the time that the interrogatory was prepared, which I think was in July, but -- or August, but panel 6 would have to confirm the exact date.


MR. THOMPSON:  So probably August 1, then?  That is what I am taking from that answer.  Is that right?


MR. ROGERS:  I don't know if it was August 1, but I am not sure it would be very much different.  It was July or August.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.


And then lastly on just getting this bill business straightened out, the –- this, I guess, would be for residential and maybe some other smaller customers.  There is a November reset yet to come for RPP customers.


Are you aware of that, Mr. Struthers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, I'm not.


MR. THOMPSON:  I assume that is panel 6 then, Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. ROGERS: Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


And now, Mr. Warren -- moving on to another area here, which is this business of the owner's ability to reduce bills -- and you had some discussion with Mr. Warren about that this morning.


And as I understand it, no one asked about the owner's ability to reduce the returns that are baked into rates.  When I say "no one", no one in Hydro One management raised that issue?  None of your directors raised that possibility?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Are you asking me whether the board of directors of Hydro One raised the issue?  Is that the question?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not -- not that I am aware of, no.  In the discussions, no, not that I'm aware of.


MR. THOMPSON:  During the course of the meetings that we have heard about between Hydro One and the ministry, that I understand were ongoing through April and into May, did that subject come up, to your knowledge?


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman, I am going to object to this as well, for the same reason that I have been periodically raising some concerns.


There has to be -- there has to be some protection given to communications between Hydro One management and the board of directors and its owner, its shareholder.


This company does not set public policy; it carries out public policy to the best of its ability.


And moreover, I question the relevance of this, even if it weren't prejudicial to dive into this topic with these witnesses.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me come at it without referring to these discussions.


Can you tell me, Mr. Struthers, does Hydro One raise equity in the capital markets?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, it does not, but it is a public company from the perspective that it raises debt in the public markets, and it is a company that is followed by three rating agencies, as well as a large number of investors, who pay particular attention to it and its regulatory framework.


MR. THOMPSON:  So would you agree its source of funds are either debt or taxpayer payments to the province?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, I am not sure I agree with you.


So I will tell you how it does operate.  It has an operating cash flow from operations.  It raises debt in the public markets, and as necessary, theoretically, it could go back to the shareholder and raise money from the shareholder.


In fact, it is in fact doing that, having reduced the dividend payments to the shareholder.  So the shareholder is actually retaining money in the company to allow the company to make investments.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, let's just turn to that, then, first.


Again, you asked some -- or you were asked some questions by Mr. Warren about that, but I wanted you to turn up -- it is a confidential exhibit, and I am going to try not to refer to any numbers.


It is the February presentation to the board, KX1.4, and if you go to the second page of the text?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I see it.


MR. THOMPSON:  You will see some dividends amounts and PILs amounts, and in the chart there "under cost estimate and recovery" in each of the years 2010, 2011 and 2012?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I see them, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And these funds are the planned payments to your owner?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  They're the forecast payments that would be made to the owner, including, as you will note, dividends required -- or dividend adjustment required in order to maintain the capital equity ratios.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Now, could you -- can you tell me -- and this would be a confidential -- let's do it this way.


Could you undertake to provide, by way of confidential undertaking response, the portion of the dividend amounts and PILs amounts in 2011 and 2012 that are transmission-related?  I assume this is a blend of transportation and distribution?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  So you are asking me to make an allocation between transmission and distribution?  Is that –-


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  And to use a best guess as to what that allocation might be?


MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.  Is it an allocation, or does it come right out of the rate application?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, could you ask the question again?  I will hopefully help you with it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I am trying to get -- because the numbers, or some of them, are confidential, I would ask you by way of undertaking tell us how much of the dividend amounts in this chart for '11 and '12 and PILs amounts for '11 and '12 relate to transmission.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I think what we can do is we can use a proxy, based on actual transmission distribution financial statements to come up with those numbers for you.  Would that be...


MR. THOMPSON:  That would be satisfactory, yes.  Thank you very much.  Could I have a number for that, please?


MS. LEA:  Yes.  JX6.5.  Thank you, Mr. Thiessen.  JX6.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. JX6.5:  to PROVIDE IN CONFIDENCE THE PORTION OF DIVIDEND AMOUNTS AND PILS AMOUNTS IN 2011 AND 2012 THAT ARE TRANSMISSION-RELATED.


MR. THOMPSON:  And whatever that number is, Mr. Struthers, I suggest to you that whether the government gets it or whether the government doesn't get it is not going to affect the safety or reliability of Hydro One's system; fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry.  Again, I am going to try to paraphrase, to try to understand your question.


Your statement is that if the government does get dividends and doesn't -- does or doesn't get dividends, does or doesn't get payments in lieu of taxes, it has no impact?


MR. THOMPSON:  It doesn't affect the safety or reliability of Hydro One's system, because you have the dollars you need?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, we have -- within the structure, we have the -- within the OM&A budget, we have the required funding in order to be able to sustain and maintain the system, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.  I have some bill impact questions, but I think they will all go to number -- panel 6.  Thank you, panel.


Thank you for your patience, Mr. Chairman.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Panel, my name is Randy Aiken.  Consultant to BOMA and LPMA in this proceeding.


I want to start with some questions related to the allowance for funds used during construction.  So if you could turn up Exhibit A, tab 12, schedule 2.  Exhibit A, tab 12 schedule 2 and specifically page 6.


And it is table 6 on page 6.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have that.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, the AFUDC rates for the bridge and test years are shown in this table as 7.58 percent up to 8.2 percent over the 2010 through 2012 period.


Were these rates actually used to calculate the AFUDC in the current application?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Subject to check, I believe not.  I believe the actual rates were the ones that we used in D1, tab 4, schedule 1.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  That was going to be my next place to take you.


These rates are considerably lower, ranging from 4.9 percent to 6.1 percent, over these years.  Yet the evidence in both of these, Exhibit A and Exhibit D1, are both dated May 19th, 2010.


Can you explain why there is such a significant difference in these rates between the two exhibits?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe it is because of the long-term forecast difference in dates, and I believe that is described in D1.  I don't have D1 in front of me at the moment.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If I could have you turn up BOMA number 4, so it is Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 4?


At page 2 of that response, there is an updated version of table 6 near the bottom.  The 2010 bridge year forecast shows that -- now shows a rate of 4.5 percent.  Am I correct that this was a simple average of the first three quarters for 2010 of the Board's prescribed rate?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe the paragraph underneath table 6 describes how the calculation was undertaken.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So there was no forecast included for the fourth quarter?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The exact phrasing is:

"The 2010 CWIP Account Rate is the average of the Q1, Q2 and Q3 CWIP Account Prescribed Interest Rates (per the DEX Mid Term Corporate Bond Index Yield), as provided on the OEB's website."


MR. AIKEN:  So I take that or I interpret that, it is an average of the three quarters, the three actual quarters available?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe that is the case, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  I am sure, as you are aware, the fourth quarter figure for 2010 has been released by the Board a few weeks ago.  It showed a reduction from 4.66 percent for the third quarter to 4.01 percent for the fourth quarter.


Would you take it, subject to check, that the average for 2010 over the four quarters is therefore 4.34 percent?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will take that subject to check, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  And if we go back to the interrogatory response, the 5.21 percent shown for 2011 and the 5.91 percent for 2012 are based on the latest forecast information available; is that correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe it is as described, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you could now turn back to table 1 in Exhibit D1, tab 4, schedule 1?


MR. STRUTHERS:  D1, tab 4, schedule 1?


MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to --


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you could wait for a second, please.


MR. AIKEN:  Oh, sorry.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I'm there.


MR. AIKEN:  On table 1, would you undertake to update the dollar amount for the AFUDC for 2010 based on the 4.34 percent rate?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We can take that as an undertaking, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MS. LEA:  J6.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.6:  TO PROVIDE UPDATE DOLLAR AMOUNT FOR THE AFUDC FOR 2010 BASED ON 4.34 PERCENT RATE FOUND TABLE 1 IN EXHIBIT D1, TAB 4, SCHEDULE 1.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  Just for the record, the update for 2011 and 2012 was provided in BOMA number 28, so those numbers have been updated.


MR. STRUTHERS:  So you want me to do your calculation or -- sorry?


MR. AIKEN:  No.  No.  The 2011 and 2012, based on the most recent forecast, is on the record.  2010 was not, and that is why I asked for the undertaking.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Oh, okay.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, staying with table 1, I note that there is a footnote for 2011 and 2012 indicating that these figures exclude the CWIP for project, and that is singular, included in rate base as discussed in Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 5.


And if you look at table 3 of that exhibit, so Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 5, and that is on page 10 of 11?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have it.


MR. AIKEN:   You will see that there is two additional projects -- or, sorry, there are two projects listed there.  Is the AFUDC associated with these projects in 2011 and 2012 included in the figures shown on table 1 of Exhibit D1, tab 4?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, could you say again?  I am just...


MR. AIKEN:  The footnote on table 1 indicates that for 2011 and 2012 --


MR. STRUTHERS:  It refers to "project".  I believe it should refer to projects, plural.


MR. AIKEN:  I thought the project was Bruce-to-Milton.  That is not included in the AFUDC numbers for 2011 and 2012.


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you would allow me to check, but I think it may be projects, rather than "project".


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MS. LEA:  Do we need an undertaking for that, then, for clarification?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is probably easier for us to go back and confirm for you, rather than do it on the fly.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's give it a number.


MS. LEA:  J6.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.7:  TO CLARIFY WHETHER TWO PROJECTS SHOWN IN TABLE 3 OF EXHIBIT A, TAB 11, SCHEDULE 5 ARE INCLUDED IN AFUDC NUMBERS FOR 2011 AND 2012 SHOWN ON TABLE 3 OF EXHIBIT A, TAB 11, SCHEDULE 5.


MR. ROGERS:  Could you just repeat what it is you are asking, please?


MR. AIKEN:  Whether the two projects shown in table 3 of Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 5 are included in the AFUDC numbers for 2011 and 2012 of table 1 of Exhibit D1, tab 4, schedule 1.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I am instructed, to maybe save some time here, the answer is "no" and it says so in the footnote.


MR. AIKEN:  So that the "project" is not supposed to be "projects"?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Let me confirm.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe it -- well, let me confirm.


MR. ROGERS:  We will take the undertaking and put it in writing.


MR. AIKEN:  And just to muddy the waters a little bit more, in table 1, in Exhibit D 1, tab 4, I am assuming that the figure of 73.6 million shown for 2010, that does include the Bruce-to-Milton AFUDC, whereas 2011, 2012 do not?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry.  AFUDC for 2010 would include Bruce-to-Milton?  Yes, my understanding, it would.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I want to turn now to the Bruce-to-Milton net present value calculations.


I will be referring to attachments 1 and 2 of Board Staff Interrogatory 122.  So that is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 122.


It is also available in Exhibit K.3 at tab 2, if you have that -- sorry, K3.1 at tab 2.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have the Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 122.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I want to start with attachment number 2.  The capital expenditures shown in the box on the bottom right hand of page 1 shows the AFUDC of 24.8 million up to 2010, 26.4 million for 2011 and 40.9 million for 2012.


My first question is:  Were the rates shown in table 1 on Exhibit D1, tab 4, schedule 1 -- in other words, the 4.9 percent for 2010, 5.6 percent for 2011, and 6.1 percent for 2012 -- were those rates used to calculate the AFUDC figure shown here?


I believe they were, but I just wanted to confirm that.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, could you repeat the rates you were looking at?


MR. AIKEN:  4.9 percent for 2010, 5.6 for 2011 and 6.1 for 2012.


MR. STRUTHERS:  2011 would be 5.6.  2012 would be 6.1.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Okay.


This next question will probably require an undertaking.


I would like you to update the calculation of these AFUDC figures to reflect the rates we talked about earlier, the 4.34 percent for 2010, 5.21 in 2011 and 5.91 in 2012, and to show the impact that this has on the net present value calculation of the 848.7 million shown in attachment 2.


MR. STRUTHERS:  You would also like the update for attachment 1 as well, I assume?


MR. AIKEN:  That's right.


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you are looking at both?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  J6.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.8:  to PROVIDE UPDATED CALCULATION OF AFUDC FIGURES TO REFLECT RATES SHOWN IN TABLE 1 OF EXHIBIT D1, TAB 4, SCHEDULE 1, AND TO SHOW IMPACT ON NET PRESENT VALUE CALCULATION SHOWN IN ATTACHMENT 2.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, staying with the Bruce-to-Milton analysis for a moment, is it fair to say that the calculations shown in attachments 1 and 2 show the net present value to Hydro One of the incremental revenue generated by this project under the two competing approaches?


MR. STRUTHERS:  What it shows is the net present, if you want, cost of the project to -- net present revenue for Hydro One, yes, that would be a fair description.


MR. AIKEN:  Would it also be fair to say that the calculations do not show the net present value of the cost to ratepayers of the two competing approaches?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It would not show the cost.  It would only show the revenue.


The issue with showing the cost is determining what the appropriate discount rates would be for customers, and they would vary considerably.


MR. AIKEN:  Good answer.  That avoids a couple of questions.


So my next question is:  What is the discount rate that is a crossover between the two scenarios provided in attachments 1 and 2?  In other words, at what discount rate is the net present value of both scenarios the same?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Theoretically, they should always be different, because you're doing two different calculations.


MR. AIKEN:  I don't think that is correct.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  Well, we --


MR. AIKEN:  If you have a different stream of costs, if you raise the discount rate - let me put it this -- to you this way.


Would you take, subject to check, that at a discount rate of 7.8 percent, the net present value under the two scenarios is the same?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will take that subject to check, but I don't believe that is the case.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then can you provide an undertaking –-


MR. STRUTHERS:  We will run your -–


MR. AIKEN:  -- to indicate whether there is a crossover point?  And if so, at what discount rate?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I -- yes, we will try.  That's all I can say.


MS. LEA:  Would it be of assistance to try the discount rate that perhaps Mr. Aiken suggested?  The repetitive running would be a very significant undertaking.


MR. AIKEN:  It actually isn't.  It took me about 10 minutes yesterday working with the spreadsheet.


MS. LEA:  Oh, well, see, Mr. Aiken, I completely discount your intelligence there.


MR. AIKEN:  The protected version, as well.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think probably what you are asking for is for me to do a calculation based on -- to use your numbers?  Is that...


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  If you could do --


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's the easy way to do it?


MR. AIKEN:  -- do the two attachments using a discount rate of 7.8 percent, that would be sufficient for my purposes.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, we will do that.


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  J6.9.  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.9:  to PROVIDE NET PRESENT VALUE CALCULATION USING A DISCOUNT RATE OF 7.8 PERCENT FOR BOTH SCENARIOS CONSIDERED.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, attachment 1 shows the Hydro One CWIP in rate base approach.


Did Hydro One consider an approach where instead of recovering the total cost of capital on CWIP in rate base, that it would recover the annual AFUDC costs associated with the CWIP, on other words, the figures shown in that box in attachment 2, 26.4 million in AFUDC in 2011, and 40.9 million in AFUDC in 2012?


MR. STRUTHERS:  So Hydro One, when it did its analysis, used the description of CWIP that we had understood from the Board from its earlier decision last year, which talked about incentive proposals for large transmission projects.  And that's how we did the calculations, because it was consistent with what the Ontario Energy Board had indicated it would consider.


MR. AIKEN:  So it did not look at any other approaches that may have a lower net present value to customers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We looked at the approaches that the Energy Board had indicated that it would consider, so the answer is no.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And would you take it, subject to check, that if Hydro One did recover the AFUDC associated with the 2011 and 2012 figures, that the net present value of that approach would be lower than that shown on Hydro One's proposal in attachment 1?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would accept that subject to check.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I am turning to a new area now.


Relevant information is provided at Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 25.  That was updated on September 17th, 2010.


This interrogatory deals with the gross plant that was significantly lower, by about 290 million in 2010, as compared to the Board-approved levels.  I assume that is from EB-2008-0272.


MS. VINES:  Yes, I have that interrogatory.


MR. AIKEN:  And there are a number of bullet points in the response at part (a).


Am I correct that based on the first bullet in the response, that the delay in the Bruce-to-Milton project accounted for about $50 million of the $290 million reduction?  And this is rate base reduction we're talking about, not capital expenditure reduction?


MS. VINES:  That's correct.  It is rate base reduction.


MR. AIKEN:  Taking into consideration the cost-of-capital, depreciation, taxes and so forth, what would have been the approximate revenue requirement impact in 2010 of this $50 million being included in rate base?


Can you give me, like, a ballpark estimate?


MS. VINES:  I believe the general rule of thumb is approximately one million-dollar impact for every $10 million variance in the rate base, so approximately 10 percent.


That would be assuming the second year when it was 100 percent in the rate base, not including the half year impact for the first year.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And then the second-last bullet point highlights the $100 million double-counting error that Mr. Rogers, I believe, referred to on the first day of the hearing.


MS. VINES:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct in assuming that this resulted in additional revenue requirement amounts for all of these -- cost-of-capital, depreciation, taxes -- of approximately $10 million, then?


MS. VINES:  I believe that is approximately correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  And that would be for the second year, not for the half year.


MR. AIKEN:  Well, was that $100 million a capital-expenditure number, or was that $100 million in rate base out of the $290 million?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The impact would be half of that amount, half of the $10 million in the first year, because it is -- because of the half-year rule in terms of how it is included in rate base.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  But I thought the difference being shown in table 4 of Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 1 is a rate-base number.  It shows the variance being 290.7 million in rate base.


And then the response provided lists a number of items that add up roughly to the 290 million in rate base?


MS. VINES:  I'm sorry, which table are you looking at?


MR. AIKEN:  I am looking at table 4 on Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 1.  It's on page 6 of 6.


It shows the 2010 Board-approved versus bridge year rate base for 2010, the gross plant, 297. -- $290.7 million variance.


MS. VINES:  Yes, I see that.


MR. AIKEN:  So that is a gross asset number.


And then the response was -- explain the $290 million difference, and the response says, well, 100 million of that is because of this error.


So the half-year rule wouldn't come into play there; is that correct?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. VINES:  You're correct that the $299 million variance here is with respect to rate base, but the half-year rule would still impact the revenue effect of the variance in the rate base.


So the impact of a variance in the rate base in the first year would be half of what it would be in the second year, the revenue effect.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now I am getting confused like Mr. Thompson.


The $290 million in the response to the BOMA interrogatory, the updated response, talks about the $290 million difference.  And when you add up the numbers throughout those bullet points, they come roughly to the $290 million.


MS. VINES:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  So that $100 million is a rate base impact.  It is not half of the $100 million?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, you are correct.  As a rate base impact, you are correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So then if the rate base impact is $100 million, then the revenue requirement impact of that is 10 percent of that $100 million.  It is not 10 percent of half of that 100 million.


MS. VINES:  It may be just terminology.


The earnings impact is half of that 10 million in the first year, the first year in which it was improperly --


MR. AIKEN:  Even though it makes up $100 million of rate base and not capital expenditures?


MS. VINES:  Yes.  I think it is terminology that is the issue here.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I will leave that for now.


The next area I am turning to is the issues of PST and HST.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  The relevant interrogatory response here is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 91; the Board Staff IR 91.


Have you got that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have it.


MR. AIKEN:  In part (c) of the response, Hydro One indicates that it has not reflected the elimination of the PST in either of the OM&A expenditures or the capital expenditures for 2011 and 2012.


And then part (d) of the response, there is a table that provides an estimate of the PST included in the OM&A and capital expenditures for these years.


The response also indicates that Hydro One is in the process of establishing the methodology to capture the revenue requirement impact of the PST and GST harmonization.


My first question is:  Does Hydro One have any more recent or refined estimates of the amount included in the OM&A and/or capital expenditure costs?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The answer to that is we are still working on it.  We have had discussions with Ontario Energy Board Staff around the methodology and process, but we are still working on the actual amount.  It is -- obviously it is a forecast amount.  It is based on the amount of capital and OM&A.


So, therefore, if those numbers change, then the amount of the HST savings would change, as well.


MR. AIKEN:  So the numbers we have in this response are the most recent --


MR. STRUTHERS:  They're the most recent and the numbers that I have been working with, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  The response also indicates that Hydro One will record the revenue requirement impact of the estimated reduction of the proposed 2011 and 2012 expenditures in a deferral account, and I believe it is deferral account 1592.


My question on this is:  Did Hydro One consider reducing the OM&A and capital expenditure amounts by the estimates shown and requesting a variance account around these amounts, and, if not, why not?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We had initially set up it up as a deferral account.  I would look to the Board for direction as to how they want to be able to treat it.


The OM&A amount is $5 million, and while the capital expenditure amount looks like it is $42.6 million, by the time you actually flow it through, it only reflects about $4 million in any one year.


So I would look to the Board as to how they want to handle it.  My understanding is is that Board Staff may have already been talking to Hydro One staff about how it might be handled.


MR. AIKEN:  So --


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would look to the Board for how -- its recommendation.


MR. AIKEN:  So if the variance account approach were taken, it would have a revenue requirement reduction of about $10 million per year?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe it is lightly less than that.  Again, I look to the Board for how it wishes us to proceed to deal with it.


MR. AIKEN:  In a related area, I want to take you to the net working cash required.  This is Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 3.


MS. VINES:  I have that.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And I am looking at table 1 on page 2 of that schedule, and that shows a net cash working capital requirement of $7.1 million in 2011 and $5 million in 2012.


And am I correct that that is based on a 5 percent GST used in the analysis?


MS. VINES:  That is correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, if you could turn up VECC Interrogatory No. 41; that is Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 41?


MS. VINES:  I have that.


MR. AIKEN:  And the response here is that the networking cash required for 2011 declines from the $7.1 million to 0.8 million in 2011 and from 5 million to a negative 3.4 million in 2012.


Now, are those changes -- sorry, those changes do reflect a 13 percent HST; correct?


MS. VINES:  Yes, they do.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, they do.


MS. VINES:  And that calculation is on table 2.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Now, can you explain the non-HST differences between the original evidence and the response to VECC?  And this is related to the test year amounts for OM&A, removal costs, environmental remediation and interest on long-term debt.   Those numbers are different.


MS. VINES:  So if, for example, we look at 2012 under column E, "OM&A", in the prefiled evidence it was $450 million.  In the test year, it is $440.7 million.


That reflects the estimated reduction due to HST that was in the exhibit that you took Mr. Struthers to a few moments ago.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And the changes in the following three line items are for the changes in the HST, as well?  The 18.1 is now 17.9.  Well, the long-term debt can't be HST related.


MS. VINES:  One moment, please.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not in a position to answer that.  I can find out for you why we might have changed the numbers, though.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I am specifically interested in the interest on long-term debt.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  That may well reflect some updated numbers.  I'm not sure.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, because it has dropped by about $10 million.  The other ones, I understand, are HST or probably HST related.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I will endeavour to find out the answer for you.


MS. LEA:  J6.10, please.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.10:  TO RECONCILE DIFFERENCES BETWEEN ASSUMPTIONS IN VECC 4.1 AND ASSUMPTIONS IN ORIGINAL EVIDENCE REGARDIGN CALCULATION OF WORKING CAPITAL


MR. AIKEN:  Now, the revenue requirement impact of the net reduction in rate base is about 6.3 million in 2011 and 8.4 million in 2012 related to these changes, primarily HST driven.


Is Hydro One proposing to track, in deferral account 1592, the impact on the revenue requirement, or are you actually now -- or are you now proposing to reflect the change in the working cash of the change because of the HST in the current application?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. FRASER:  There we go.  Sorry.


I think the company's view was that the revenue requirement impact of the HST would go into the deferral account, so that would be a comprehensive impact coming off the rate base.


So this would be a rate base impact.  It would be recorded there, as well.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.


A new area, off the working cash and into long-term debt rates, I believe, if I can read my notes here.


The response to BOMA No. 4, so Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 4, that interrogatory provided an update to the Hydro One bond rate forecast for 2011, 2011 and 2012.


For example, in 2011, the 30-year bond rate that would have been -- would be paid by Hydro One fell from 6.41 percent in the original evidence, to 5.94 percent in the update.


And there were similar declines for the 10-year and five-year bond rates as well.


In BOMA No. 33, Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 33, Hydro One indicated that no additional debt was issued in 2010.  If you turn up attachment A to that response, and at page 1 of 3 of attachment 1, does that mean that the issue shown in lines 30 and 31 -- which are labelled June 15th and September 15th, 2010 -- have not been issued as of the middle of August, when the interrogatory response was dated?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Essentially, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Has any debt been issued subsequent to the response to the interrogatory?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, we did.  We issued debt associated -- in September, we issued debt associated with both a five-year and 30-year issue.


MR. AIKEN:  Can you provide the amounts and the rates?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The amount would have been $250 million, blended, I believe, at about 3.95 percent.  But we can provide you with the exact numbers.


It was two issues, 250 each, and then they get allocated.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Yes, I would like to have those numbers provided, please.


MS. LEA:  J6.11, please.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, if I look at page 2 --


MR. STRUTHERS:  I can actually give you the amounts.


It was 500 million at 2.95 percent.  That was the five-year –- sorry, 250 million at 2.95.  250 million at 4.95, and that was the 30-year.


So it is a matter of how they get blended.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MS. LEA:  Do we still need the previous undertaking?


MR. AIKEN:  No.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  So strike 6.11 from the record at this time, please.


MR. AIKEN:  When I look at the second page of attachment 1, which shows that the costs of long-term debt for 2011, I see a projected average embedded cost rate of 5.62 percent.


And that is compared to the original evidence at Exhibit B2, tab 1, schedule 2, page 5, that shows a rate of 5.67 percent.


Would you accept, subject to check, that applying this five-basis-point reduction to the deemed amount of long-term debt of almost 4.7 billion shown in Exhibit B2, tab 1, schedule 1, results in a reduction in debt costs of about 2.3 million in 2011?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Subject to check, yes, I will accept that.


MR. AIKEN:  Would you also take, subject to check, that the corresponding numbers for 2012 is a reduction in the long-term debt rate from 5.64 percent to 5.56, and applied to the deemed amount of debt there of 5.1 billion results in a reduction of about 4.1 million in the revenue requirement?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Perhaps you could give me the numbers again for 2012.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  In 2012, the original evidence shows a rate of 5.64 percent.


Page 3 of attachment 1 shows a reduction to 5.56 percent.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  So it's eight basis points times 5.1 billion is about 4.1 million?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, subject to check.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, turning to the issue of IFRS, Board Staff Interrogatory No. 19, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 19?


MR. FRASER:  I've got that.


MR. AIKEN:  Let me back up for a minute.  For 2011, the application is based on CGAAP; is that --


MR. FRASER:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  And for 2012, it is based on a modified IFRS approach?


MR. FRASER:  It is based on an assumption that CGAAP is equal to modified IFRS coming out of the Board final Report on IFRS, with the proviso that we have requested two specific exceptions.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  What is the -- we probably don't need do this on the record, but what is the status of the IFRS implementation for January 1st, 2011?


MR. FRASER:  Are you asking about the external view, in terms of what is required?  Or the Board view?


MR. AIKEN:  The external view.


MR. FRASER:  The external view, in Canada, is that the Accounting Standards Board -- maybe I should back up.


At the date that the interrogatories were answered, the Accounting Standards Board in Canada had exposed a deferral option for utilities, cost-of-service utilities, to take advantage of.  That was a two-year optional deferral of IFRS until January 1st, 2013.


Subsequent to the answering of the interrogatories, the Accounting Standards Board met and determined that only a one-year exception would be offered, and that has been approved and put forward.


At this time –- sorry, I should also say that was in expectation that the International Accounting Standards Board in July would meet and accede to its staff's proposal that rate-regulated accounting basically die.


That didn't happen.  The International Accounting Standards Board actually determined that the project would continue, and rejected its staff's proposal.


The question is:  What is the reaction of the Accounting Standards Board in Canada going to be?  Are they going to extend that one-year deferral option or not?


As I understand it, the Canadian Electrical Association members have written the Accounting Standards Board within the last couple of days and asked them to reconsider the one-year exception.


So a short story is there is a lot of uncertainty in terms of what the actual implementation year for IFRS will be for rate-regulated entities that qualify for that exception.  We don't know if the exception will be extended –- sorry, the delay option will be extended past one year, which would be 2012, or will it be locked-in at 2012.


We don't know that right now.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, speaking of uncertainty, can you explain the $200 million increase in the 2012 revenue deficiency noted in the response to part (d) of the Staff interrogatory?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.  That represents the impact of moving to an IFRS, pure IFRS basis of asset costing, and to a compensation policy that would be consistent with the Board's February 24th, 2009 letter, that basically clarified that entities would be required to follow the provisions of IAS Statement 16, that drives the costing of property, plant and equipment.


In the absence of approval of the exceptional treatment that we had requested, our estimate was that the impact on the revenue requirement would be an increase of $200 million in 2012, and that would be a result of overheads that are currently capitalized moving to OM&A and to -- into the current revenue requirement.


That is a net number that takes into account the impact of not only the OM&A, but also the capital.  That -- well, I will stop there.


MR. AIKEN:  Is that $200 million transmission, only, or is that transmission and distribution combined?


MR. FRASER:  That is the transmission impact.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And if the Board does not approve your exemption request, that amount or the actual amount would be recorded in the deferral account that you are requesting; is that correct?


MR. FRASER:  I should point out we are still working on the -- on refining that.  It is a very -- somewhat tortuous process that we have to get approval from our external auditors as to which elements of overhead they will accept as capital.


So it is a bit of an iterative process, but we've gotten most of it dealt with now and we have solid positions.  So the $200 million is a fairly solid number.  It is subject to further revision and -- well, just to make it more precise, order of magnitude, I would say it is fairly -- we're fairly confident that is the amount.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Mr. Chair, I have one more area to go through.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please proceed.


MR. AIKEN:  Unfortunately, it is taxes, and I expect that will take 15 to 20 minutes, if not more.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  With that time, with the -- is that suitable to the reporter?  Is the panel prepared to go for another 15 minutes?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  We will proceed.  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.


MR. AIKEN:  First I want to deal with capital cost allowance calculations.  In the response to BOMA Interrogatory No. 20 - this is Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 20 - the response to part (b) of that -- and part (b) of the question said:

"Please replace the 2009 CCA calculations shown in Attachment 4 with the actual figures for 2009."


The response is:

"The figures shown in Exhibit C2, Tab 5, Schedule 1 Attachment 4 are the actual 2009."


And if you pull up that reference, Exhibit C2, tab 5, schedule 1, attachment 4, it is on page 2 of 2.  The 2009 transmission --


MR. ROGERS:  Can you let the witnesses find the document, please?


MR. AIKEN:  C2, tab 5, schedule 1, attachment 4, page 2 of 2.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, I hate to do this to you, but what are the references?


MR. AIKEN:  Exhibit C2, tab 5, schedule 1, attachment 4, page 2 of 2.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Thank you.  Okay, C2, tab 5, schedule 1, attachment 4?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  The top shows the 2009 transmission CCA calculations.  And based on the response, these would be the actual CCA calculations?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe so, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, the closing UCC there in the right-hand column --


MR. STRUTHERS:  For 2009?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, is 4996.8?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  If you can keep that reference in front of you, and then turn up attachment 1 of Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 21?  So this is BOMA number 21.


I had asked for the equivalent to attachments A, B and C for the actual 2009 income taxes, and one of the attachments provided is the capital cost allowance.


And my confusion is that I see a different closing UCC there for 2009 on the bottom of attachment 1.  It has increased by about $8 million, and there are a number of line items that are different from one schedule to the other.


And so my question is:  Which one of these two sets of tables is the actual, actual calculations for the transmission CCA for 2009?


Just for clarification, I have noted that on eight of the line items, that there are different sets of numbers between the two schedules.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  What I was going to do is I was going to actually look to the tax return that was filed to confirm to you which one was the -- what is the right schedule.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are they material differences, Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  There is an $8 million difference in the UCC to be carried forward to future years, so I would say, yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  And I will have to get back to you, because I am not sure.  I would assume -- well, I don't know.  I will find out for you.  I will take an undertaking to determine for you which one of these is the correct transmission schedule 8.


MS. HELT:  That will be J6.11.


MR. AIKEN:  If you can now pull up the response to BOMA 24, so Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 24, the first three parts of this question -- of this interrogatory question, the accuracy of some of the 2010 and 2011 calculations related to CCA classes 50 and 52.  These are generally computer equipment.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Do you agree that the higher CCA tax deductions calculated for 2011 and 2012 in attachment 2 of the response reflect the correct calculations that should be used?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry.  You will have to give me references again.  I apologize.  I was trying to answer your previous question.  I believe the balance, 4996.8, is the correct transmission balance, for the closing balance.


Your question was on 2010.  Which schedule are you referring to?


MR. AIKEN:  I am referring to Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 24 now.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay, I have that.


MR. AIKEN:  And it is attachment 2.  This shows corrections for classes 50 and 52?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  And I guess actually it starts with attachment 1 for 2010, and then corrections for 2011, as well?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  And do you agree that these revised numbers are the numbers that should be used?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I say, I believe I may have answered your previous undertaking.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So I think we can - the record can simply show that that undertaking has been fulfilled at this stage.  Thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  My final area of questioning is related to the tax credits, the apprenticeship training tax credit, the federal training tax credit and the co-op education tax credit.


My understanding is that Hydro One has calculated the tax credits for 2011 and 2012 related to these items to be $2.2 million.  This figure is shown in Exhibit C2, tab 5, schedule 1 at attachment 1, I believe.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I see it on line 21.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


And now if I could have you turn up Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 18, so this is BOMA 18.  The response to this interrogatory indicates that the 2.2 million of tax credits was estimated in November 2009 at approximately 120 percent of the 2008 tax credits claimed by Hydro One in your 2008 tax return.


If you look at attachment 1 to BOMA 18, in the middle table -- that shows 2008 -- there are transmission tax credits of 1.79 million.  And so I take it that by increasing by the 120 percent, that is how the $2.2 million was arrived at; is that correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe that's correct, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Am I also correct that the actual transmission tax credits for 2009 were more than 3.1 million?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's what is shown on that schedule.


MR. AIKEN:  How did Hydro One come up with a factor of 120 percent to estimate the 2011 and 2012 tax credits?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It was based at the time on our previous history and our previous experience.


It is difficult for us to actually understand exactly what the number is going to be until we actually go through a whole process of understanding how many apprentices we actually used, what the Ontario co-op education tax credit is going to be for the number of people that are actually eligible for it, and then also what is applicable under the federal apprenticeship number of positions.


So it is an estimate.  It is based on the best information we have at the time.  We believe it is fairly accurate, but obviously it depends on the mix of employees at any point in time.


MR. AIKEN:  Does the increase that you are forecasting reflect the doubling of the apprenticeship training tax credit that took place in 2009?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would believe it does, but I would, again, be subject to confirm -- confirmation for you.


MR. AIKEN:  Does the increase reflect the tripling of the co-op education tax credit that took place in 2009?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, I will confirm back for you whether that is the case or not.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe it probably does, but I am not 100 percent certain.


MS. HELT:  Undertaking J6.12.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.12:  to advise WHETHER FORECAST INCREASE REFLECTS DOUBLING OF APPRENTICESHIP TRAINING TAX CREDIT AND TRIPLING OF CO-OP EDUCATION TAX CREDIT IN 2009.


MR. AIKEN:  I am just curious how the doubling and tripling of tax credits would be reflected in a 20 percent increase in the total tax credits claimed.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Let me confirm whether those numbers are included or not.


MR. AIKEN:  If we take a look at the 2009 figures at the bottom of attachment 1 of BOMA 18, I see that there are a total of 392 eligible positions for the co-op education tax credit.


And 235 of those were allocated to the transmission business; is that correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry.  Okay.  I see where you are.  Okay, yes.  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Line 32.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am with you, yes.  Yes, that's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Does Hydro One have an estimate of how many transmission-related eligible positions there are for the co-op education tax credit in 2001 and 2012?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, I would offer that as -- we will confirm if we have it.


MR. AIKEN:  This might help.


At Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 1?


MR. STRUTHERS:  C1?


MR. AIKEN:  Tab 3.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Schedule 1.


MR. AIKEN:  Schedule 1, page 5 of 10, starting at line 6 of the evidence, it talks about hiring approximately 300 co-op students a year.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I see that.


MR. AIKEN:  My question is:  Is this for Hydro One Inc. in total, or is this the transmission allocation of the students?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It would be for Hydro One Inc.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So you are going to have less co-op students than you did in 2009?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe that is correct, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Back to attachment 1 of BOMA 18.  There were 224 positions eligible for the Ontario apprenticeship training tax credit, and 151 for the federal tax credit.


MR. STRUTHERS:  About 224 for the transmission, and 150 for the distribution, I think.  Am I correct?


MR. AIKEN:  No, sorry.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, 151 for the federal apprenticeship.  Yes, I'm with you.  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Does Hydro One have an estimate of how many eligible positions you will have in 2011 and 2012 for each of these tax credits?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe it may be addressed through an IR -- or a request for response yesterday with respect to hirings.  I am not sure whether that item would cover that, this particular item.  I don't know.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Could you answer that, Mr. Aiken?  Are you familiar with the undertaking that was offered?


MR. AIKEN:  I am, but I am not sure it would answer the question.


Before we get an undertaking for that, let me just move on.


If you turn up the response to Energy Probe No. 41, this is Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 41, the response there indicates that 194 apprentices have been hired in 2010 and that the numbers are expected to be between 110 and 130 for each of 2011 and 2012.


My question is:  Are all of these apprentice positions eligible for the Ontario and federal apprenticeship tax credits?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't know.  I would be making an assumption if I said yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then I will ask for the undertaking; if possible, to provide the number of eligible positions in 2011 and 2012 for the two sets of apprenticeship tax credits.


MR. STRUTHERS:  What we estimate as being the number?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.


MS. HELT:  Undertaking J6.13.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.13:  to advise the NUMBER OF ELIGIBLE POSITIONS IN 2011 AND 2012 FOR ONTARIO AND FEDERAL APPRENTICESHIP TAX CREDITS.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  And those are my questions.  We can have lunch.


[Laughter]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.


Is there anything -- Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  I am just going through my notes.  There were two items that I failed to put to the witnesses, and I know we are on a break for lunch, but there is one document that I have given to my friend that I would like to put to the witness, and then is one other question.


I was wondering if I may be able to do that when we resume on Thursday?  It would only take, I would think, maybe three minutes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, if you want to do it now?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I would, if that is convenient to you.  But I thought you wanted to get out of here.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's do it now.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Struthers, we were discussing the fact that Hydro One doesn't raise equity in the capital markets.  It raises debt.


And on that point, I wanted to put a document to you that -- it is a government announcement back in February of 2005 pertaining to the setting of rates for OPG.  And I provided this to my friend this morning, I think.


[Mr. Thompson passes out document]


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, you've got it?  All right.


MS. HELT:  Perhaps we can mark this as an exhibit.  K6.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K6.3:  GOVERNMENT ANNOUNCEMENT dated February, 2005 PERTAINING TO rate SETTING FOR OPG.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  And in this document, Mr. Struthers, at -- it starts at the bottom of page 1 and over on to page 2, the rates that the government set there for OPG were sufficient to cover the source of the funds, the OEFC debt.  Do you see the statement I am referring to?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  We view this as an acknowledgement by the government that as long as a provincially-owned utility recovers the course of its source of funds, the prices are reasonable.  Do you view it that way?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, I don't.  And the reason I don't is because the borrowing is not with a third party.  It is with a government-related entity.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  We can argue that.


Now, the other point that I failed to mention, and I wanted to ask you this, related to the discussion we were having about the Board's -- this is the DX decision, where the Board indicated that overall increases in commodity and the prospect of further increases in the commodity cannot be ignored.


My question is:  In the context of that ruling and in the context of the discussion we have been having about total bill impact analysis, would Hydro One be prepared to commit to prepare and provide, as part of its planning process, a total bill impact analysis of the type that we presented in the case here?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, my apologies for asking you a clarification question, but you are suggesting or you are asking Hydro One, as part of its business planning process, to project commodity costs and all components of the bill in order -- for what purpose?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, to provide your board of directors with a factor, evidence of a factor that the Board says cannot be ignored, and, as well, it would provide other parties, like my client, who need this information for business planning, with the same thing.


And Hydro One being close to everybody, i.e., the OPA and other entities, the ministry, that make the decisions, that influence these costs, I thought it might be appropriate for you to make that commitment.


But if you want to take it by way of undertaking, I am happy to do it that way.  I just wanted to get your answer on the record before I argue this case.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not sure...


MR. ROGERS:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I am willing to take it under advisement and advise the Board of the company's position.  If Mr. Struthers feels comfortable making an answer now on behalf of the company, that's fine.


MR. STRUTHERS:  We can certainly go through the exercise, but I am relying on material that would be provided by the Ontario Energy Board, the Ontario Power Authority and basically the same material that would be publicly available, I assume.  But I am not sure where it goes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't think this is an appropriate subject for an undertaking, per se.


I think Mr. Rogers has offered to take that subject matter under advisement, and we will presumably report to the proceeding --


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I think I will.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And I think that is satisfactory for your purpose.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, that is very satisfactory.  Thank you.  Could we give it a number just for identification purposes?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Again, I don't think it is genuinely a -- well, I suppose that is convenient, actually, to do that.


MS. LEA:  Just as a reminder, then.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's right.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  We are at 11?  Oh, J6.14.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.14:  TO PREPARE AND PROVIDE, AS PART OF ITS PLANNING PROCESS, A TOTAL BILL IMPACT ANALYSIS.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is there anything further before we adjourn until Thursday morning?

Procedural Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  I just wonder before you break if my friend Ms. Lea could just let me know what the schedule looks like in terms of Thursday, who is left, because I will try to get my next panel ready to go.


MS. LEA:  Right.  I understand that Mr. Shepherd has questions.  Is Mr. Buonaguro here?  There you are, okay.  Perhaps you can enlighten us, please, sir.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  I have been in communication with Mr. Shepherd.  He has quite a bit for this panel.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, hopefully less now than before this morning.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am only telling you what he told me.  I have a little bit.  Most of mine was gutted today, which is good, but I have a little bit.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Crocker?


MR. CROCKER:  Between half an hour and an hour.


MS. LEA:  And my estimate is about the same as Mr. Crocker's, but I intend to have a good look at it.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let me also suggest the strong preference that the Board has for the preparation of compendia to ease reference to multiple documents in the course of cross-examination.  These are exceedingly helpful.  They save a lot of time, and they are -- I think they are just valuable in every respect.


So where it is possible to do so, we would be very appreciative if parties could develop those compendia very -- I think it would be of great assistance to the Panel and of great assistance to the Board in dealing with the subject matters.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  One other administrative matter.  Because this room is going to be used this afternoon as, I think, an overflow room or in some way with respect to the celebration, I would advise parties not to leave any materials in the room, please, but to remove them.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We can't vouch for any of the guys who are attending the celebration.


MS. LEA:  It is not so much that, sir, but as you say...


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let me just indicate that the Board would be extremely pleased if any of the participants in this proceeding wanted to attend some events of the celebration.  There is going to be a conversation, I believe, among the current chair and past chairs that would be quite interesting, and I know the chair would be extremely pleased if anyone who wanted to, including the panel and everyone here, wanted to attend and participate.


So without any more, we will adjourn until Thursday morning.  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 1:40 p.m.
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